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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEVCRE Y

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in investment in listed
and unlisted companies in Hong Kong and overseas
financial markets.

As at 31st December 2011, the Group’s investment portfolio
covered companies in a wide range of industries, which
includes banks, investment holdings, investment in securities,
property investment, manufacture and sales of accessories
for photographic, public transport, toys, health care, Chinese
medicine products and home electronic application systems,
provision of brokerage and financial services, manufacture
of high-end fur garments, hotel business with gaming in
Macau, healthcare system, distribution of cars, retail-related
consultancy services and assembly services of telephone etc.

The revenue of the Group for the current financial
year was approximately HK$131,000 representing
a decrease of approximately 67% as compared to
approximately HK$393,000 in last financial year. The
net loss attributable to members of the Group was
approximately HK$213,916,000 when compared to a
loss of approximately HK$48,048,000 in last financial
year. The greater loss was mainly due to an increase in
realised and unrealised losses on listed shares caused by
the panic selloff in the stocks market as investors tried to
avert the risk and uncertainties brought by the Eurozone
sovereign debt crisis in the third quarter of 2011 coupled
by the credit tightening policy in PRC market.

As at 31st December 2011, the total assets of the
Group were approximately HK$174,022,000 of which
the non-current portion and the current portion
were approximately HK$194,000 and HK$173,828,000
respectively. The current liabilities of the Group
increased from approximately HK$2,060,000 as at 31st
December 2010 to approximately HK$50,817,000 as
at 31st December 2011 as the Group had outstanding
loans together with accrued interests of approximately
HK$50,422,000. The net assets of the Group as at 31st
December 2011 were approximately HK$123,205,000
representing a decrease of approximately 57% when
compared to approximately HK$286,509,000 as at 31st
December 2010.
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OUTLOOK

We repeatedly point out that the bond market is the
last bubble to burst. Our worry has partly turned into
reality that the fear over the default in repayment of
Eurozone government bonds has led investors to sell
them and consequentially triggered the financial turmoil
in the Eurozone in the third quarter of 2011. Global
financial markets rebounded and stabilised recently. The
Greek government successfully restructured its debt with
creditors which enabled it to obtain the loans from Euro
Central Bank (“ECB”). Indeed, with the unlimited advance
of discounted loans from the ECB to European banks for
the next three years, it has not only solved the liquidity
problem of the European banks but strengthened their
financial and capital ratios. Another encouraging sign
is that the interest rate of government bonds issued by
Italy, Spain and other European countries fell when these
European banks purchased their government bonds with

the discounted loans.

Turning to the United States, the release of new
economic data has also been encouraging. For example,
over 200,000 new jobs were created in each of the last
three consecutive months in the United States and the
unemployment rate fell to 8.3%. The property market is
also rebounding as both new homes under construction
and sales of existing homes increase. It was reported that
property prices in Miami reached record highs with the

occupancy rate at 93%.

Notwithstanding such encouraging news, there remain
uncertainties whether the economic growth in the
United States will continue and the financial crisis in
the Eurozone will not deteriorate in the future. The
reasons being the financial markets have been artificially
distorted by the unprecedented abundant money supply
in the major economies. However, such abundant money
supply cannot reduce the government debts of these
major economies as speculators take advantage of the
abundant money supply to speculate on shares, property
and commodities and drive up their prices. As a result,
emerging countries are likely to suffer from the effects of

rising prices and associated inflation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEVCRE Y

Over-gearing of positions by the major economies is also
likely to remain a significant problem in the years ahead
especially when the markets lose confidence in believing
that abundant money supply can rectify the over-gearing
position of these major economies.

Indeed, there are only two ways to resolve the over-
gearing position of the major economies. The first one is
to restructure government debts by cutting a substantial
portion of such debt. A prime example is Greece which
eliminated over 70% of its debt. The second one is
consolidation by reducing government expenditure and
increasing the tax income. Although this is the correct
method to reduce government debts of major economies,
the resistance from their citizens is great because they are
unwilling to lower their present living standard.

Fortunately, China realises its RMB4 trillion financial
stimulus policy advocated in 2008 has led to a number
of undesirable consequence in particular the inflationary
pressure which caused its inflation to exceed 5%; the
soaring property price which has not settled well with
home buyers; the fast growing municipal government
debts which entailed the risk of non-performing debt
not to mention the inefficient use of natural resources
and the resultant non-marketable inventory stock.
Therefore, the government of China began to address the
problem by tightening the money supply and initiated
administrative measures. Recently, there are signs that
inflation is under control and the speculative property
market is cooling down. China has forecasted its GDP
growth at 7.5% this year in view of the decreasing
demand in its export products from the Eurozone and
the United States. China intends to stimulate its domestic
consumption in order to boost its domestic growth. To do
that, it plans to increase the wages of domestic workers,
lower the income and corporate taxes and improve
the domestic welfare system and the like. All of these
measures aim to enable domestic citizens to have more
disposal income to consume. We believe this is a correct
and realistic approach in view of the uncertainties in
major economies. More important is that this will enable
China’s economy to achieve sustainable and qualitative
growth in the next decade.
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We are cautiously optimistic towards the economic
growth in major economies in view of the forthcoming
election of the president in the United States which
usually boosts the domestic economy; the government
intervention especially the massive money supply
of major economies and the prevailing low interest
rate. However, it will be necessary to monitor closely
whether the pace of the economic growth is sustainable,
otherwise the market may eventually lose confidence in
government intervention measures to reduce government
debts. In case of the latter, we may encounter another
financial crisis but on a much larger scale. As a matter of
course, investors should focus on China’s economy which
not only outperformed its counterparts in the United
States and the Eurozone, but can achieve sustainable and
qualitative growth in the next decade. We reiterate our
previous prediction that investment money will continue
to flow from major economies to China and Hong Kong
in order to capture their investment opportunities in the

year ahead.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final

dividend for the current year (2010: nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
investments in financial assets designated as held for
trading with carrying value amounting to HK$158,473,781
(2010: HK$271,904,424) were pledged to brokers to

secure margin financing provided to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December 2011, the Group had 8 employees
with remuneration of approximately HK$4,510,000 (2010:
approximately HK$2,920,000) for the current year. The
Group’s emolument policies are formulated on the
performance of individual employee and will be reviewed

regularly every year.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our
appreciation to the management and staff members for
their continued dedication and contribution. I would like
to express our gratitude to our members for their support

to the Group.
For and on behalf of the Board
CHUNG Yuk Lun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22nd March 2012
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHUNG Yuk Lun, aged 51, has been an Executive
Director and Chairman of the Company since 25th
April 2002 and 16th October 2002 respectively. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an Associate
Chartered Accountant (England and Wales). Mr. Chung
has over 20 years’ experience in finance and project
investment. He is currently an executive director of Ming
Fung Jewellery Group Limited and an independent non-
executive director of Heritage International Holdings
Limited, Forefront Group Limited and Dragonite
International Limited, all of which are companies listed

on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. SHIMAZAKI Koji, aged 42, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
24th February 2004. He was re-designated as an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 9th May 2005 and 30th April 2008 respectively. He
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering and a
Master degree in Electrical Engineering from Kanagawa
University in Yokohama, Japan. He has over 18 years
of experience in web developing and programming,

production and quality control engineering.

Mr. CHEUNG Wing Ping, aged 45, has been an
Executive Director of the Company since 30th June 2011.
Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in auditing
and accounting fields. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
accountancy with honours from the City University of
Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. From July 2006 to December 2008, Mr.
Cheung was an independent non-executive director of
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited, a company listed
on GEM board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheung is
currently an independent non-executive director of Willie
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the

Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors

3

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LUM Pak Sum, aged 50, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 27th
May 2010. Mr. Lum holds a master degree in business
administration from the University of Warwick, United
Kingdom and a LLB (Honours) degree from the
University of Wolverhampton, United Kingdom. He is
currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom. Mr.
Lum has over 20 years’ experience in the financial field,
currency markets and capital markets. Mr. Lum was an
independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Stock Exchange, namely, Grand
Field Group Holdings Limited from July 2004 to May
2008, KH Investment Holdings Limited from September
2005 to December 2008, Heng Xin China Holdings
Limited for the period from June 2007 to November 2008
and Energy International Investments Holdings Limited
from September 2005 to June 2011. Currently, he is an
independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Stock Exchange, namely,
Waytung Global Group Limited, Bestway International
Holdings Limited, Karce International Holdings Company
Limited and Asia Resources Holdings Limited. He is
also an independent director of Asia Green Agriculture
Corporation, a company trading on the Over-the-Counter
Bulletin Board in the US.

Ms. LAM Yan Fong, Flora, aged 36, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
since 20th October 2011. Ms. Lam is a practicing lawyer
in Hong Kong. Ms. Lam obtained a Bachelor degree
in Laws from the University of Hong Kong and further
obtained a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in 2001. Ms.
Lam joined Messrs. Lam & Co. in 2007 and is a partner
of that firm. Ms. Lam is currently also an independent
non-executive director of Forefront Group Limited and
Tack Fat Group International Limited, both companies are

listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. NG Yin Ling, Elaine, aged 38, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
since 20th October 2011. Ms. Ng received her Bachelor
of Arts degree in Business Administration from the
University of Ottawa in 2002, and obtained a Master of
Law (International Business Law) from the City University
of Hong Kong in 2003. Ms. Ng is currently completing a
Juris Doctor degree at the City University of Hong Kong.
Ms. Ng’s work experience includes a teaching post at the
City University of Hong Kong for the Diploma in Facility
Management of Business Management from 2005 to 2007.
From 2004 to 2005 she was a senior manager at the Hong
Kong Productivity Council where she was in charge of
business collaboration and partnership development.
From 2002 to 2004, she held a position as an executive
officer and external relations officer at the City University
of Hong Kong where she was also in charge of business
collaboration and partnership development. Previously,
she held senior managerial sales roles at GE ECXpress
(HK) Limited, Parametric Technology Corporation (HK)
Limited, Unigraphics Solutions (HK) Limited and System-
Pro Computers Limited during the period from 1992 to
2002.
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Report of Corporate Governance
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules throughout the current year,
with deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code in
respect of the service term and rotation of Directors (as

disclosed below).

Model Code

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”), Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, as the required
standard for the Directors of the Company to trade
the securities of the Company. Upon enquiry by the
Company, all Directors of the Company have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set

out in the Model Code throughout the current year.

The Board

Composition and appointment
As at 31st December 2011,
comprises Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (Chairman), Mr. Shimazaki
Koji (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Sam Nickolas David
Hing Cheong (resigned on 15th March 2012) and Mr.
Cheung Wing Ping as the Executive Directors, and Mr.

the Board of the Company

Lum Pak Sum, Ms. Lam Yan Fong, Flora and Ms. Ng Yin
Ling, Elaine as the Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Pursuant to the Listing Rules, each Independent Non-
Executive Director gives an annual confirmation of his

independence to the Company.

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the Code, (a) Non-
Executive Directors should be appointed for a specific
term and subject to re-election; and (b) all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to
election by members at the first general meeting after
their appointment, and every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to

retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

EXRBEHRER

AR R R AR A JE — B R ST B A BB Bk 14
P 2 A S8 iR H RUST R (TSF AL > 4
i =l 5 AT 399 D o (L 28 T B ST J) 2R
A4 MESFRIRSCZ BEfF A 22 R (BT X
P gg) -

R e S

AN A O BR AN BT LRI B0z B g AT
N AT 775 oy AR YE ST A ([ R HEST
) > AERA N R ERIEGTAR A F I
oy Z BUERRHE o SN AT AW > AN F]
ERE R CHEENAEEZ A — HETRE
ST R BT B 22 R R

HREG
A i e 25 (T
%:%*#E+:Hz+~a’$®ﬂ%
$@ﬁ%@%ﬁﬁ%$ﬁﬁ%%i
JE )~ UG IR 32 A SE A (4T B AR AR %ﬁ
FeE ( M_gegiiﬁ+£5%&,&%
B Se A 5 DL OB S JF BT BE S5 RN AR 0t
E ~ PRRR 5 2 4 R S e A o ARYE BT
o £ J8 L I AT B S ) A N E) R AR
Eﬁlﬁﬁﬁi’% °

AR ST R 28 A4 10 < R SCZ M€ > (o FF
POERZ BB ABEEN WFEZ
HERT R 5 e (D) BT A % A TR Ry 22 B T A
ZREZERBEBERERZ ERIERKREG
EHZ AR ME L EHE (AEAEE
EMzESR) BRd 8 =4FinEEE K-

Annual Report 2011 48t | ]



Report of Corporate Governance

1B 56 B ih Hok

Two Directors, Ms. Lam Yan Fong, Flora and Ms. Ng Yin
Ling, Elaine, are not appointed for a specific term, which
constitutes a deviation from the code provision A.4.1
of the Code. However, one-third of the Directors of the
Company (both executive and non-executive) are subject
to retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting
under the Articles of Association of the Company. As
such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate

governance practices are in line to those of the Code.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and
(2) of the Listing Rules, one of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors possess the requisite appropriate
professional qualifications. The Board confirmed that the
independence and eligibility of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors are in compliance with the relevant

requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Board has effectively overseen and monitored the
business activities, operational and financial performance
of the Company, ensured a proper internal control system
is in place to enable risks to be assessed and managed
and the decisions were made in the best interests of the
Company. The Board holds meetings from time to time
whenever necessary. Sufficient notice of Board meetings
is given to Directors. The Company Secretary records
and maintains the minutes of the Board meetings for
inspection by Directors. During the financial year ended
31st December 2011, the Board convened a total of 30
meetings, performing its duties in considering, inter alia,
rights issue, capital reorganisation of the Company and
other matters pursuant to the provisions of the Articles
of Association of the Company. Real-time teleconference
system was adopted at each meeting to increase the

attendance rate.
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Statistics of Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings

during the year ended 31st December 2011 was as

follows:

RRE-F——F+ A=+ 0 LE
BE - 2 kR

Name of Director Attendance Title
R S Tk 1
CHUNG Yuk Lun 30/30 Chairman, Executive Director
el EH-BTESF
SHIMAZAKI Koji 30/30 Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director
i B - AT
CHEUNG Wing Ping (note 1) 21/30 Executive Director
sk aF (FFaED) YATEF
SAM Nickolas David Hing Cheong 18/30 Executive Director
(note 2) HATEF
TEBEAE (MF5E2)
CHUA Kei Wah (note 3) 12/30 Vice Chairman, Executive Director
ZERHE (M aE3) R W HATESR
MIU H. Frank (note 4) 0/30 Executive Director
B (Fakd) YAITEF
LIU On Bong, Peter (note 5) 8/30 Managing Director, Executive Director
BELFE (B aES) A YT E R
CHOI Ka Nam (note 6) 7/30 Executive Director
LR (K EE6) YATEF
LUM Pak Sum 7/30 Independent Non-Executive Director
VINIER S B PATES
LAM Yan Fong, Flora (note 7) 1/30 Independent Non-Executive Director
MFRTT (B EE7) B ATES
NG Yin Ling, Elaine (note 7) 1/30 Independent Non-Executive Director
S (Kak7) B HATES
YAU Chung Hong (note 8) 0/30 Independent Non-Executive Director

F B (R EES)

WAL ERATE S
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Name of Director Attendance Title
HELEA i Tk
Gary Drew DOUGLAS (note 3) 3/30 Independent Non-Executive Director

Gary Drew DOUGLAS ([t 5£3)

LAM Suk Ping (note 3) 4/30
MR (B 5E3)
KAN Kwok Shu, Albert (note 5) 3/30

iy I M (B RES)

WONG Wai Man, Raymond (note 5) 3/30
AR 3C (KEEES)

Notes:

1.  Appointed on 30th June 2011.
2. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 15th March 2012.

3. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 20th October 2011.
4. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 1st August 2011.

Retired on 30th June 2011.
6. Appointed on 7th January 2011 and retired on 30th June 2011.

Appointed on 20th October 2011.
Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 16th December
2011.

Every Board member has full access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed and they are also entitled to
have full access to Board papers and related materials so
that they are able to make an informed decision and to

discharge their duties and responsibilities.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The office of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company has been segregated by different
individuals, namely Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, the Chairman,
and Mr. Shimazaki Koji, the Chief Executive Officer, since
February 2006 and, hence, the Company has complied
with A.4.2 of the Code. Mr. Chung and Mr. Shimazaki are
not related to each other in financial, business or family

aspects.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and
information to the Board and reports regularly to
the Board on financial position and prospects of the
business of the Company so as to enable the Board to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other

information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group. The
Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the
financial statements and the auditors’ responsibilities
are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report. The
responsibility of the external auditors is to form an
independent opinion, based on their audit, on those
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board
and to report their opinion to the members of the
Company. A statement by auditors about their reporting
responsibility is set out in the Independent Auditors’

Report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the Company’s internal
control system and risk management procedures and for
reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control. The Board has conducted a review of, and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the system of internal

controls of the Group.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring
and management of risks associated with its business
activities. The Group’s internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment
of business objective. The system includes a defined
management structure with segregation of duties and a
cash management system such as monthly reconciliation

of bank accounts.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s
material internal controls and is of the opinion that the
resources for and qualifications of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function are adequate
and sufficient. Based on information furnished to it and
on its own observations, the Board is satisfied with

present internal controls of the Group.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for
determining the remuneration of Directors. The members
of the remuneration committee are: Mr. Lum Pak Sum,
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping and Ms. Lam Yan Fong, Flora.
During the financial year ended 31st December 2011,
the committee held 4 meetings to discuss remuneration
related matters. The attendance of each member is as

follows:—

HiMZ e e

R r e BHME B LLEEE S M
& o B Z B\ 2 B BT AR
REFPHAERKGK G LA REEF
—— 4+ A=+ —H kB
Z B e v A A B e S IE AT T R
o KA MEBZ HEERWT - —

Name of member Attendance Title

LUM Pak Sum 4/4 Independent Non-Executive Director
MAE 7R WL IR AT E

CHEUNG Wing Ping (note 1) 0/4 Executive Director

gk A (B aE1) YATHESE

LAM Yan Fong, Flora (note 1) 0/4 Independent Non-Executive Director
MARTF (B EEL) WL JE AT E

CHUNG Yuk Lun (note 2) 4/4 Executive Director

SEH WE (P EE2) HITEH

LAM Suk Ping (note 3) 1/4 Independent Non-Executive Director
ARABF (B 5E3) WL IR AT E F

WONG Wai Man, Raymond (note 4) 2/4 Independent Non-Executive Director

4R S (B 5E4)
Notes:

1.  Appointed on 20th October 2011.

2. Ceased to act on 20th October 2011.

3.  Appointed on 30th June 2011 and ceased to act on 20th October
2011.

4. Ceased to act on 30th June 2011.

Mr. Lum Pak Sum was the chairman of the remuneration
committee. The remuneration committee is responsible
for the following functions: determining the policy for
remuneration of Directors and senior management,
assessing performance of Executive Directors, as well as

determining the emolument policy of the Company.

WL IE AT E
B 3 -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee, currently comprising three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, has reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed the internal controls and
financial reporting matters of the Company with the
management of the Company. The audit committee has
also reviewed interim results and the annual results of the
Group for the current year.

During the year ended 31st December 2011, the audit

committee held 2 committee meetings. The attendance of

BNZEY
BENEEGHB 2B LT EFTA
A > Sl B BEL AR S ] A B R 3L [R] A T AR 4R
T R A 2 g st IR R KA B DA KR R AR A
TZW%%ﬁ&Wﬁ$$$EA%ﬁ§E
B IR B 5% [ AR 48 B AR 4F B 22 SR 4R
FEE-

RBE_F-——F£+_A=t+t—HIE®
o ERERERRTWRZART Gt

each of the members at such meetings is as follows:— HRENFAREGRZBERMT : —
Name of member Attendance Title

kB ik S B f5i

LUM Pak Sum 2/2 Independent Non-Executive Director
INIER S B FATE R

LAM Yan Fong, Flora (note 1) 0/2 Independent Non-Executive Director
MARTT (BEEED) BT E S

NG Yin Ling, Elaine (note 1) 0/2 Independent Non-Executive Director
S (Mstn) B R ATE SR

YAU Chung Hong (note 3) 0/2 Independent Non-Executive Director
Fe B (HEEE3) B RATE S

Gary Drew DOUGLAS (note 2) 1/2 Independent Non-Executive Director
Gary Drew DOUGLAS (Bff5£2) TSz BAT E

LAM Suk Ping (note 2) 1/2 Independent Non-Executive Director
MOACF (B EE2) B RATE S

KAN Kwok Shu, Albert (note 4) 1/2 Independent Non-Executive Director
7 I A (B 5E4) B R ATE S

WONG Wai Man, Raymond (note 4) 1/2 Independent Non-Executive Director

AR ST (KT E4)
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Notes:

1.  Appoint on 20th October 2011.

2. Appoint on 30th June 2011 and ceased to act on 20th October
2011.

3.  Appointed on 30th June 2011 and ceased to act on 16th December
2011.

4. Ceased to act on 30th June 2011.

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to consider and make recommendations to
the Board in relation to the appointment, re-

appointment and removal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature
and scope of audit prior to the commencement of

the auditing procedures;
(3) to review the interim and annual accounts;

(4) to review and discuss with management the

internal control system; and

(5) to review the Group’s financial and accounting

policies and practices.

The audit committee has reviewed the auditing
performance, the internal controls and the audited
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st December 2011.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31st December 2011, the auditors of
the Company have carried out the audit works amounted
to HK$200,000.

1. RoF——Ft+HA -+ HEEE-
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The Directors submit their annual report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31st December
2011 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company acts as an investment holding company.
During the Year, the Group is engaged principally in the

investments in listed securities in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page

30.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a
dividend.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements during the Year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group is set out in note 15 to

the financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND SHARE
CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the Year in the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 21 to the

financial statements.

RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in note 23 to the

financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES
During the Year, the Company did not purchase, sell or

redeem any of the Company’s own securities.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. CHUNG Yuk Lun, Chairman

Mr. SHIMAZAKI Koji, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. CHEUNG Wing Ping (note 1)

Mr. SAM Nickolas David Hing Cheong (note 2)

Mr. CHUA Kei Wah, Vice Chairman (note 3)

Mr. MIU H. Frank (note 4)

Mr. LIU On Bong, Peter, Managing Director (note 5)
Ms. CHOI Ka Nam (note 6)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. LUM Pak Sum

Ms. LAM Yan Fong, Flora (note 7)

Ms. NG Yin Ling, Elaine (note 7)

Mr. YAU Chung Hong (note 8)

Mr. Gary Drew DOUGLAS (note 3)

Mr. LAM Suk Ping (note 3)

Mr. KAN Kwok Shu, Albert (note 5)

Mr. WONG Wai Man, Raymond (note 5)

Notes:

1.  Appointed on 30th June 2011
2. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 15th March 2012

3.  Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 20th October 2011

4. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 1st August 2011

9

Retired on 30th June 2011

6.  Appointed on 7th January 2011 and retired on 30th June 2011
7. Appointed on 20th October 2011
8. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 16th December

2011

According to article 88(1) of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, Mr. Shimazaki Koji and
Mr. Lum Pak Sum will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as Directors at the Annual

General Meeting.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS

As at 31st December 2011, the following persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had interest or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”):

FEBRE AN L2 MR

AN E——F+ " H=+—H> U FAL
(A 7l F o AT AR RSN ) B AN A
HEB5 6 J5 SR B W] ([ 78 2 K &l 1)
336 E B 2 B st k2 A A F]
JBe A5y K AH B 3w 2 BE 2 BOIR A -

Number of

ordinary
shares Percentage
Name of Substantial Shareholder FEB R AT yilid gE| Bl
CHAN Chak Kai, Kenneth B 25,000,000 11.65%
Mascotte Holdings Limited I 1 5 42 B A R A 10,840,000 5.05%

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified by any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or a
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at
31st December 2011.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company or its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31st December 2011, none of the Directors, the
chief executive of the Company or their associates
had any interests and short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by

Directors of Listed Companies.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

At no time during the Year was the Company or its
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate. The Company
did not grant any right to subscribe for the shares in
the Company to any Directors or chief executive of the
Company or their respective spouse or children under the

age of 18 during the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed by members of the
Company on 7th February 2005, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), the
principal terms of which are set out in the circular of the

Company dated 12th January 2005.

No option was granted, exercised or cancelled during the

Year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of pledge of assets are set out in note 25 to the

financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in

note 26 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following connected transactions occurred during the

Year.

Custodian Agreement

On 11th February 2002, Standard Chartered Bank
(the “Custodian”) entered into the custodian
agreement with the Company pursuant to which the
Custodian agreed to provide services to the Company
including the safe custody and physical settlement
of the securities in the investment portfolio of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and the collection of
dividends and other entitlements in respect of such
securities. The custodian agreement will continue
in force until terminated by either the Company or
the Custodian giving to the other not less than 90
days’ notice in writing expiring at any time. During
the Year, the Group did not pay any amount to the
Custodian (2010: HK$nil).

The Custodian is regarded as a connected person of
the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the custodian agreement constitutes a
continuing connected transaction for the Company

under the Listing Rules.

Investment Management Agreements

CU Investment Management Limited (“CUIM”) has
been appointed as the investment manager of
the Company since 3rd November 2003. CUIM is
regarded as a connected person of the Company
for the purpose of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the investment management agreement constitutes a

continuing connected transaction of the Company.
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The investment management fee was HK$40,000
per month for the period from 1st January 2009 to
30th June 2011 and is increased to HK$100,000 per
month effective from 1st July 2011. The aggregate
investment management fee paid/payable to CUIM
for the Year amounted to HK$840,000 (2010:
HK$480,000).

Brokerage Services and Margin Financing
Facilities Arrangement

CUIM and Chung Nam Securities Limited (“CNSL”)
are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of Hennabun
Capital Group Limited. CNSL is accordingly a
connected person of the Company for the purpose of
the Listing Rules. The Company and its subsidiaries
utilise the services of CNSL through the opening
of margin trading accounts and enter into margin
financing facilities arrangement with CNSL to finance
investments in accordance with the investment
objectives and policies of the Company. For the Year,
the Company paid CNSL net margin financing interest
and brokerage fee of approximately HK$311,158
(2010: HK$209,615) and HK$1,927,810 (2010:
HK$1,578,745) respectively.

BEEMENH _FENFE—H—H
HE T ——FNH=+HZHHEK
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£ A —HB®EEMES H100,000%
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Ak 57 2 W 5 - Sl B o R GIE 25 BT SL AF R
REESLZH HBRAXFRZHEH
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KA T A #)311,158% 0T ( —
% — F4F:209,615% 78) £1,927,810
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Confirmation from Auditors and Independent

26

Non-Executive Directors

The Company’s auditors and Independent Non-

Executive Directors have reviewed the continuing

connected transactions of the Company and its

subsidiaries for the Year, and confirm that:

a)

b)

9)

d)

the transactions entered into by the Group for
the Period were duly approved by the Board of
the Company;

the margin financing facility will bear interest at
the prevailing market rate;

the service fee for the investment management
services is HK$40,000 per month from January
2011 to June 2011 and HK$100,000 per month
from July 2011 to December 2011; and

the aggregated amount of the continuing
connected transactions for the Year does not
exceed the maximum aggregate annual value of
HK$10 million and HK$45 million in respect of
financial services and margin financing facility
respectively, disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 2nd October 2009.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors further

confirm that:

a)

b)

c)

the transactions were entered into by the Group
in the ordinary and usual course of its business
and are conducted in accordance with the terms
of the Financial Services Agreement;

the transactions were conducted into by the
Group on normal commercial terms and on arm’s
length basis; and

the transactions were entered into by the Group
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as
the Company’s members and the Group are
concerned.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors,
the Directors confirm that the Company has maintained
during the Year the amount of public float as required

under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee, currently comprising three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, has reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed the internal controls and
financial reporting matters of the Company with the
management of the Company. The audit committee has
also reviewed the annual results of the Group for the

Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman
Islands, although there are no restrictions against such

rights under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. HLM & Co. as

auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
CHUNG Yuk Lun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22nd March 2012
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[ & & =t 5 AT
HLM & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

Room 305, Arion Commercial Centre

2-12 Queen’s Road West, Hong Kong

Fr s 2 K VG 2- 1295 i 4% ps S5 03055
Tel &7 : (852) 3103 6980

Fax i E: (852)3104 0170

E-mail % #: hlm @hlm.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF
RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Radford Capital Investment Limited 348 & A& A R A
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 30 to 107, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31st December 2011, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
as at 31st December 2011 and of its loss and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLM & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 22nd March 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

f By 4 i AL i A

For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

2011 2010
2 —Z2-%F
Notes HK$ HK$
Revenue I 5 (©) 130,931 392,662
Net realised loss on disposal of HEBIEERFEREZ
financial assets designated as WS W O B R 4R U B
held for trading (85,723,224) (19,505,894)

Beds E B R E R E
P57 O 5 Bl 1R T A

Net unrealised loss on financial

assets designated as held for

trading (115,020,741) (21,849,356)
Other operating income HoAth g e A (©) 1,057,271 1,121,588
Administrative and other A7 B S HoAth 7 78 B S

operating expenses (12,325,231) (7,997,108)
Loss from operations g TR (211,880,994) (47,838,108)
Finance costs A % (8) (2,035,177) (209,615)
Loss before taxation R Bl 1 s 1H (213,916,171) (48,047,723)
Taxation i TH 9 = =
Loss for the year attributable to & 5 A5 4 A 5 48

members (10) (213,916,171) (48,047,723)
Other comprehensive income At A T R A - -

e TR A 42 T Jls 18 48U RR

Total comprehensive loss

attributable to members (213,916,171) (48,047,723)
Dividend i @5, (13) - =
Loss per share (5354 Fi= (14)

Basic and diluted I A Tz 4 3 (0.986) (0.539)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fa o JA 5 IR D 2

At 31st December 2011 A —&——4F+ " H=1—H

2011 2010
“g——F  ZF-%%
Notes HKS$ HK$
i ot W 7T
Non-current asset I E & E
Property, plant and equipment ¥ 3~ fi 5 K& (15) 193,809 1,667,539
Current assets ) =
Financial assets designated as WiteE BIFEEEZ
held for trading B & (16) | 159,973,781 273,404,424
Accounts receivable, deposit W W T~ d < S T
and prepayment A5 IR (17) 7,202,066 392,202
Cash and bank balances B4 IR AT 45 B (18) 6,651,963 13,104,498
173,827,810 | 286,901,124
Current liabilities i N=Ki
Creditors and accrued expenses F& 1] ZJH K T8 $2 & (19) 395,100 2,060,160
Borrowings 14 £ (20) 50,421,918 -
50,817,018 2,060,160
Net current assets i B & E 123,010,792 284,840,964
Net assets & E 123,204,601 286,508,503
Capital and reserves A A
Share capital Jie A 2D 21,466,408 143,109,384
Reserves fiti 5 23) 101,738,193 143,399,119
Total equity HE £ 48R 123,204,601 286,508,503

The consolidated financial statements on pages 30 to 107
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 22nd March 2012 and are signed on its
behalf by:

Shimazaki Koji
U e = 7

Director

#HH

FI0E107E i 4i A M B HRERD R —F
— CHE=ZHA S HEE E e R
FI 8 > 0 DA B FHACREEE

Chung Yuk Lun
L)
Director

#=H
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
% £ BE 3 5 B R

For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

Share Capital
Share Share option redemption Accumulated
capital premium reserves reserves losses Total
B AN

A Bebriihl  WRACHERE B b Rt At

HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

i 30 3D 3D 3D o

At 1st January 2010 g S e il 117420874 499,760,930 - 168,800 (405,071,657) 212,278,947

Total comprehensive loss 2HEREH = = = - (B047723)  (48,047,723)

Capital reduction A Hl i (93,936,700) - - - 93.936,700 -

Share option benefits o F A = = 1,275,478 - - 1,275,478

Exercise of share options TrifRE R 4,133,015 7,070,402 (1,275,478) - - 9,927,939

Rights issue ikt 110,468,757 = - - - 110,468,757

Issue of shares by placing for cash ~ ERE EHT RGN & 5,023,438 - - - - 5,023,438

Shares issue expenses BTGB X - (4418333) - - - (4418333)
At 31st December 2010 and REF-FEFZH=+-0R

Ist January 2011 ZF——%-f—H 143109384 502,412,999 - 168800 (359,182,680) 286,508,503

Total comprehensive loss AHERAE = = - - (13916171 (213916,171)

Capital reduction T Al (128,798 446) = = - 128798446 =

Rights issue i3 7155470 46,510,549 - - - 53,606,019

Shares issue expenses BITRB X S (3,093,750) = = = (3,053,750)

At 31st December 2011 REZB——E+ZA=F—0 21,466,408 545,869,798 = 168,800  (444,300,405) 123,204,601
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mablaiE|g

For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —&F——F A =+—HILF

2011
S
HK$
i 70

2010
e
HK$
i G

Operating activities

Loss for the year

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property,

S-S ]
N R
RELLTR 4% JH 9 B

/S JﬁﬂiF&nﬂ%Tﬁ%

(213,916,171)

(48,047,723)

plant and equipment 292,046 464,686
Net unrealised loss on PARE HAFEE E
financial assets designated WA 5 e R B B
as held for trading Jeq 8 T AE 115,020,741 21,849,356
Net realised loss on disposal HHEHEEHIFIEEREZ
of financial assets WM &EEZ B
designated as held for JiEs 18 15 A
trading 85,723,224 19,505,894
Net loss (gain) on disposal W2 - S b 2
of property, plant and e (U i) & 3
equipment 1,203,352 (185,069)
Share based payments J& A3 A5 3K e 1,275,478
Interest expenses ) B B 2 2,035,177 209,615
Dividend income from A E AIFEEE Z
financial assets designated A 6 i A
as held for trading (130,931) (392,662)
Operating cash outflows before & # ¥ 4 % 8 {ij K8 &
movements in working B4 it
capital 9,772,562) (5,320,425)
Increase in accounts receivable, M I A ~ % 4 X T8 47 3k E
deposit and prepayment 4 (6,809,864) (29,133)
Decrease in creditors and JRE AN R T B T 4 R D
accrued expenses (1,665,060) (643,067)
Cash used in operations 8 B B & (18,247,486) (5,992,625)
Interest paid EERRIDSS (1,613,259) (209,615)
Net cash used in operating &1 B) iy 8y Hl Bl & F 8

activities

(19,860,745)

(6,202,240)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

2011 2010
“EF ZE—FLE
Note HK$ HK$
Wzt T T
Investing activities BEFHD
Dividend received from ElpdEE A EE R Z
financial assets designated WA 5 S
as held for trading 130,931 392,662
Purchase of financial assets IEEYHEE A EEE
designated as held for W 5
trading (491,230,592) | (452,365,986)
Proceeds from disposal of B Bl AR Eﬁl?ﬂl/ﬁ éﬁ
financial assets designated Wb 75 L E P A5 3K
as held for trading 403,917,270 346,052,362
Proceeds from disposal HEY - M
of property, plant and M 2 % ?ﬁ
equipment - 200,000
Payments for property, AT kR M
plant and equipment % i R H (21,668) (323,733)
Net cash used in investing % & Vi B fir B H 3 4 3 8
activities (87,204,059) | (106,044,695)
Financing activities il & 5 B
Net proceeds from issue of BT’ Z TS S T TR
shares 50,612,269 121,001,801
Proceeds from borrowings [ERcgiEn 240,000,000 -
Repayment of borrowings BB (190,000,000) =
Net cash generated from il 1 B By e A B
financing activities 100,612,269 121,001,801
Net (decrease) increase in BERRESZEEY (W)
cash and cash equivalents 3 i % (6,452,535) 8,754,866
Cash and cash equivalents at £ #] Z Bl & K Bl &% HY
the beginning of year 13,104,498 4,349,632
Cash and cash equivalents at £ R Z Bl & KBl & FHY
the end of year 6,651,963 13,104,498
Cash and cash equivalents H&E&ERBEFEDIE:
represent:
Cash and bank balances Bl S8R AT 4 iR (18) 6,651,963 13,104,498
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

1.

GENERAL

The Company is a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its registered office
is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is at Room
2201, 22/F, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road,
North Point, Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in investment
holding and trading of financial assets designated as
held for trading.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institutes of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) have been applied by the Group in
the current year and have affected the presentation
and disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements. The application of these new and revised
HKFRSs has had no impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior
years, except as described below.

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs
(Amendments) issued in 2010 except for
the Amendments to HKFRS
3 and HKAS 1
HKFRS 1 Limited Exemption from
(Amendments) Comparative HKFRS 7

Disclosures for First-time
Adopters

— R &R

AR — R B = B S R A
Z A BRA ] HOB A A dE W5 52 5
B A R 2~ ®) (THf s B )) BTy o AR
A] 2 gk i 3E = BE 7 72 Cricket  Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands> I H A & 22 L B0 R &
ik b A 15 B A 2858 2 TE 02282201
= o

AR T T A R P % R
ERFERE ZMBERE -

I

HGaMBEwERUEITE R BAL
Z e B HEAME -

W P 9 T B 4580 T A 8 B B R
RS ([ o 0 B e e B )

AR AEEC A UT d &
gatiiAe ([EFEgahsgl) S
AT B ARG T A o B e E S SI
EHZFEGEEMBERERTEZ 25 &
0% B R A R B o T L S BT AT It
HEAE 6T o vk S 5 ik ot TR JU) S A AR TR
A AR T I A AR T 2 B R B RGIR UL
Slf7 48 5 %88 > R SCHT A BR b o

Bl REEN  REF-FERNZ
(BT A) 7o 8 0 S 4 e
22 e A
A7 8 7 8 S
R SR A&
2 1 9%
Z 5T
BB BB A
H19E (BFTA) 7HEEE AR A
Wik LB H T2
H PR # %
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKAS 24 (as revised Related Party Disclosures

in 2009)

HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues
(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) — Int 14  Prepayments of a Minimum
(Amendment) Funding Requirement

HK (IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with Equity

Instruments

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised
in 2009)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on
the following two aspects: (a) HKAS 24 (as revised in
2009) has changed the definition of a related party
and (b) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) introduces a
partial exemption from the disclosure requirements

for government-related entities.

The disclosures exemptions introduced in HKAS
24 (as revised in 2009) do not affect the Group
because the Group is not a government-related
party. However, disclosures regarding related party
transactions and balances in these consolidated
financial statements may be affected when the
revised standard is applied in future accounting
periods because some counterparties that did not
previously meet the definition of a related party may

come within the scope of the standard.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of
Rights Issues

The amendments address the classification of certain
rights issues denominated in a foreign currency as
either equity instruments or as financial liabilities.
Under the amendments, rights, options or warrants
issued by an entity for the holders to acquire a
fixed number of the entity’s equity instruments for
a fixed amount of any currency are classified as
equity instruments in the financial statements of the
entity provided that the offer is made pro rata to all
of its existing owners of the same class of its non-
derivative equity instruments. Before the amendments
to HKAS 32, rights, options or warrants to acquire a
fixed number of an entity’s equity instruments for a
fixed amount in foreign currency were classified as
derivatives. The amendments require retrospective

application.

The application of the amendments has had no effect
on the amounts reported in the current and prior
years because the Group has not issued instruments

of this nature.

HK (IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with Equity Instruments

The Interpretation provides guidance on the
accounting for the extinguishment of a financial
liability by the issue of equity instruments.
Specifically, under HK (IFRIC) - Int 19, equity
instruments issued under such arrangement will
be measured at their fair value, and any difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the consideration paid will be

recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. B BT B BAE T 7 U B
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B ([FHE B HEE])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued) (75 )

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet A 15 15 3 AR 2R 2 2 B T B RAE 5T &
effective s e

A 4R [ 37 4 4R B R A T 51 2 AR A (R
KA Z B wT S KA R A i 5 e

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

A

HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and BB R BN E R R &
(Amendments) Removal of Fixed Dates for $15% (BRI A) E AR A
First-Time Adopters’ bR [ € H
HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of 7 o B i L 1 5 — R
(Amendments) Financial Assets’ 79 (BRI A) B!
HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting B v J 5 o R 1 5% — KB A B
(Amendments) Financial Assets and B9 (BFTA) V& 3L o
Financial Liabilities?
HKFRS 9 (Revised) Financial Instruments’ B s A 2 e U W ¥ L Ho
Ho%% (K1E7T)
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial B s A St e U AT RER
Statements? 1058
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements? HMBEWEERN AR
1198
HKFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in B s TS St e U YN N - P
Other Entities? 51258 451
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement? B s A S e U N REER &
#1358
HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other g FtEAFLSE HMAmikEEE 2
(Amendments) Comprehensive Income’ (B4 2P
HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of HHGFHERE 125 RERIE - i A B
(Amendments) Underlying Assets? (BFTA) B
HKAS 19 (as revised Employee Benefits? H g R E195 B ITEA
in 2011) (R_F——4F
RIEFT)
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised Separate Financial Statements?
in 2011)

HKAS 28 (as revised Investments in Associates and

in 2011) Joint Ventures?
HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
(Amendments) Financial Liabilities’

HK (IFRIC) — Int 20  Stripping Costs in the
Production Phase of a

Surface Mine*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July
2011.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January 2012.

J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July
2012.
# Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January 2013.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2014.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January 2015.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 increase the disclosure
requirements for transactions involving transfers of
financial assets. These amendments are intended to
provide greater transparency around risk exposures
when a financial asset is transferred but the
transferor retains some level of continuing exposure
in the asset. The amendments also require disclosures
where transfers of financial assets are not evenly

distributed throughout the period.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

The directors anticipate that the application of the
amendments to HKFRS 7 will affect the Group’s

disclosures regarding transfers of financial assets in

the future.

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 amended in 2010 includes the

requirements for the classification and measurement

of financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as

follows:

* HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to
be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
reporting periods. All other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at their
fair values at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities
may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other

comprehensive income, with only dividend

income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

2.

effective (continued)

The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding
the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities relates to the presentation of
changes in the fair value of a financial liability
(designated as at fair value through profit or
loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability. Specifically, under HKFRS 9,
for financial liabilities that are designated as
at fair value through profit or loss, the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under
HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the
fair value of the financial liability designated as
at fair value through profit or loss was presented

in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning

on or after 1st January 2015, with earlier application

permitted.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS

9 in the future may have significant impact on

amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial

assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s

financial assets, it is not practicable to provide a

reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed

review has been completed.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

In June 2011, a package of five standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and
disclosures was issued, including HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are
described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements that deal with
consolidated financial statements and HK (SIC) -
Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that
contains three elements: (a) power over an investee;
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (¢) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been

added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable
to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated
structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than

those in the current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st January 2013. Earlier
application is permitted provided that all of these five

standards are applied early at the same time.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

The directors anticipate that these five standards will
be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on or
after 1st January 2013. The application of these five
standards may have significant impact on amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements.
The application of HKFRS 10 may result in the Group
no longer consolidating some of its investees, and
consolidating investees that were not previously
consolidated. However, the directors have not yet
performed a detailed analysis of the impact of the
application of these standards and hence have not

yet quantified the extent of the impact.

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance
for fair value measurements and disclosures about
fair value measurements. The standard defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, and requires disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it
applies to both financial instrument items and non-
financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs
require or permit fair value measurements and
disclosures about fair value measurements, except
in specified circumstances. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 13 are more extensive
than those in the current standards. For example,
quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the
three-level fair value hierarchy currently required for
financial instruments only under HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures will be extended by HKFRS

13 to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1st January 2013, with earlier application

permitted.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be
adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on or
after 1st January 2013 and that the application of the
new standard may affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and result in more
extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements.

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to
present profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in either a single statement or in two
separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to HKAS 1 require additional disclosures
to be made in the other comprehensive income
section such that items of other comprehensive
income are grouped into two categories: (a) items
that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss; and (b) items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on

the same basis.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st July 2012. The
presentation of items of other comprehensive income
will be modified accordingly when the amendments

are applied in the future accounting periods.

The directors anticipate that the application of
other new or revised standards, amendments and
interpretations will have no material impact on

results and financial position of the Group.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December 2011 comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

(together referred to as the “Group”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values, as explained in the accounting policies below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of

the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including special purpose entities) controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain

benefits from its activities.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other

members of the Group.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and

expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can
be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Dividend income form investment in financial assets
designated as held for trading is recognised when
the Group’s rights to receive payment have been
established (provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the

amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they

are incurred.

46 RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED 34 & A $% % A1 FR 2 7]

3. EREEBOR (A7)

RO (A)
NS AR Z A5~ &8 1
A LB SCE R &5 R H BRF 8 o

LN 374

A B A 2 AR E R R A 4t T]
REWA A > Kol A B AE AT 58wt
B R T LARERR - FLE WA TS 2 IR MH
A S TR T B R e B ] e
REt MEBRAXLBRMBEEEZ
TE AR S0 R 2 B W A ME T AT B =
AR AR H O 2 IR T (E L L
E

T8 € 2 15 AF HOE 2 BB R IRE A
P A 2 1) ik S AR A T 22 R B e
(P 68 75 11 195 T I A A 4 I % il
A B AE ] 5 T 2 A BRAL) -

L%

JURH #) 63K R T W] B A RE A B 2 B
JEL B B (8] i 48 K HB 20 R TR Z
HLA > 290 8% BVEAR A « BT A Ho At
K)o B R KB THA -

A5 B A 25 AR RN

A A A0 HH 4 12 A B FE A DA B AR A e
BB BRIE A R AR EE AR
A A B AL A A 2 R ] A K
IR A o K878 L 40 B B A8 2 SR T &
P JEE A 30 ] e R 2 B 5



Notes to the Financial Statements

bk 265 it % Bt

For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating lease, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the

leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in

a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they arise except for:

* exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction
for future productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those

foreign currency borrowings;
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #%E —F——4F+ A =+—HIL4FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

* exchange differences on transactions entered into
in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks;

and

* exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or

loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations, if any, are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
difference arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of foreign currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 #% —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF

Scheme.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees in an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received is determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in

equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
revised its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding

adjustment to a share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is

expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will

be transferred to retained earnings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit as reported in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary difference associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and

liabilities.

5 2 RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED $H & A3 2 A7 W2 7

3. ERGEBOR ()

B (A7)

0 S Ao T A i B Y ) W) MM
RAIZBEU R EEAFRZHERA
B 2 I R Bl Ry R 2 EL AR T MEAS AR
] T o ¢ ] B B A B R R KO B
Jix AT G514 AR 13 T B R 2 B R B Ab
T AR 40 8 R i A T R 38 R B A
72 BL 2 M 2 > HL YR M6 R WY 2R
[0 2 A5 BLF > J5 & ffE Rl R B S
Je HE g A7 B 2 AT 9 B Ry A 25 B i
2 RIEFLIAE E

A0 S Tl T R T L TS A U R
A7 7 B8 o i S K AT RE A A 40 B R Y
IR (s o e A R e < e e
BT E B IH K 7 2 AR AT

O J0E o TR 7 M AR RO o R
CEMBSRBE M2 Bl (KBl
PATH RE A ER B A 5 B A 2 I
WM Z PR R EEREARK
B 2 R M R 3 R K O
A S5 [ B TE R R B R
H{E 2 T R BB R R -



Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any, in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful life, using

the straight-line method, at the following rates:

Leasehold improvement 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%

The estimated useful life, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount

of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 265 it % Bt

For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets with finite useful life to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss, if any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation

basis can be identified.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable
amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the

time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of receivable can be

measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position when a group entity becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), held-to-maturity
investments, available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets
and loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and
is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # % —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial asset is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

* it has been acquired principally for the purpose

of selling it in the near term,;

* on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern

of short-term profit-taking; or

* it is a derivative that is not designated and

effective as a hedging instrument.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVIPL (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial

recognition if:

* such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition

inconsistency that would otherwise arise;

e the financial asset forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the

grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Fair value is determined in the manner described in

note 5.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # % —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity dates that the Group has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity
investments are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less any impairment (see
the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses

on financial assets below).

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified
as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity

investments or (¢) financial assets at FVTPL.

AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investments
revaluation reserve. When the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of

impairment loss on financial assets below).

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such
unquoted equity investments are measured at cost
less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period (see the accounting policy in

respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Loans and
receivables (including accounts receivable, deposit
and prepayment, cash and bank balances, and others)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term
receivables when the recognition of interest would

be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of
each reporting period. Financial assets are considered
to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have

been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that security
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence

of impairment.

60 RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED 34 & A $% % A1 FR 2 7

3. ERGEBOR ()

E?I?%Iﬂ (ﬁ

,‘M&/ﬁl&ﬂ

K B JE AR TR 2 I [ A B AT
Hiﬁf{ﬁﬁéfﬁ%iﬁﬂ 2 I fi A Bt
i‘%%? B S ME S 3K T (45 B iR
E ‘?“ﬂz&féﬁ/ﬂ\‘fﬁi&ﬁﬁ B
ﬁﬁﬁﬂ RIH ) PR BT I R 258 1k 4 48 5 At
A% YA o] WM o

%UQLIQJ\EFEQEF%“*U%%%UTJE
> MR SRR AN K IRE > S R i
TJ\IE\%ﬁ“’

Vg3 =3 A
AL [ A& A B OR B AL BB B
(¥ s B AR AR 28 2 BH S & &= B
S8 F A BLSE B 5 o WA KB
Hr MHEEEEREREREEZ —
%ﬂ%ﬁ%#ﬁﬁ&QZﬁ%iﬁﬁ
S EZ B R B P E A
B -

FAT I AR %A
FOAB (L R W B84 A0 M0 S HL AR B 2
H 2 Bl -



Notes to the Financial Statements
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of

impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty;

e breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

* it becoming probable that the borrower will

enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

* the disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as
accounts receivable, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, as well as observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with

default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective

interest rate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods (see the accounting

policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of accounts receivable, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. When an account receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or

loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss in the period.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # % —F——4F+ A ="+—H L4

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had

the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment
losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve.
In respect of AFS debt investments, impairment losses
are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if
an increase in the fair value of the investment can
be objectively related to an event occurring after the

recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in according with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEGHBUOR (&)

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) WMH LR ()

Financial liabilities and equity instruments MEBEARRERATR ()
(continued)

Equity instruments A TR

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences e TR 7 Bn s B 8 G (kR H
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after BT AR ) R G HE a2 AR & 4 - AR 4R
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments B E 3T 2 IA TR I i E WU &
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds FCE AR B8 AT A4S T DABRERR

received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL A NE L FHA 1R 72 Z BB A

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when A RBEEF AR & 2 WH A 58

the financial liability is either held for trading or it is R EE 2 B B EUR W) 2P R

designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition. R 46 78 /% 4% A fo B AE v A HE 22 2 T
Ao

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 4755 ST AT — R DL - B A

HOMAFERE Z MEAR:

* it has been acquired principally for the purpose - EAEMBAMBZHEMEZEBRIE
of repurchasing it in the near term; WA [8] B 5

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of o TAEWHERR IR A% MBS AL R i AR
identified financial instruments that the Group L AL R B 2 B s s LR
manages together and has a recent actual pattern BEMH Gz — W0 i B A
of short-term profit-taking; or P T A R 2 B B R 5 B

e it is a derivative that is not designated and o MBS EMELATA TR > (Hf 4R
effective as a hedging instrument. FE S A RCE P T A

A financial liability other than a financial liability W55 ST AT — FAE P B A

held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon & (FEEEZ B AERN) TR E

initial recognition if: U RR IRF 48 FE S 4% S R E R A I 4R

Z B A

* such designation eliminates or significantly o A BATE E I BR KR IE K AT fE

reduces a measurement or recognition B2 st BaSERA - IHEI

inconsistency that would otherwise arise;

64 RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED 34 & A $% % A1 FR 2 7]



Notes to the Financial Statements

A 265 it % Bt
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

e the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the

grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one
and HKAS

39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and

or more embedded derivatives,

Measurement permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVIPL are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest
paid on the financial liability and is included in the
“other gains and losses” line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Fair value is

determined in the manner described in note 5.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including creditors and
accrued expenses, borrowings and others) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

3. ERERTBOR (A7)

WHTH (4)
MBARGRKA TR ()

AN HFIA 1B 2t < BT B A (#H)

% P B B AR R — A B B
B BB 2 — R > AR
7 S (o] R Je o L w8 O W
e SUAR (B 2R R B I R A LR
B ez AR 2 BRI R R
L7 e

% B AR L — DL B
NEMETRZGHZ M 1M
ARt B LA ¢ i
B KA R e aR (BE
BB ) 18 € BE A REEF AR

ﬁﬁ_o

A AR AR 2 BB A EEA
FREE S MR R R B E A 2 AT A
Jies 1 48 i W D o A 4E AR AR R 2 L T
LS W B B RS Z AR AL S
DA AN e TRl e X
Kol B T H o~ o E 5 % K sEs
P alt 75 K E o

H A B 75 A 1

At B 75 B R (604 B A K I T 4R
BT R R A ) AR TR A
R AR

Annual Report 2011 4§} 65



Notes to the Financial Statements

S 755 e A B ik
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than financial liabilities classified as at
FVTPL.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
the date when derivative contracts are entered into
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which case the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of

the hedge relationship.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise
the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement
and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the

proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than
in its entirety, the Group allocates the previous
carrying amount of the financial asset between the
part it continues to recognise, and the part it no
longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair
values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The
difference between the carrying amount allocated
to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no
longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss
allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
in other comprehensive income is allocated between
the part that continues to be recognised and the
part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the

relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable

is recognised in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief reporting
decision-maker is responsible for allocating resources
and accessing performance of the operating

segments.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and demand deposits
with any bank or other financial institution. Cash
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, having been within three months of

maturing at acquisition.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINITY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 3, management
is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see below), that
management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

consolidated financial statements.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. FEEEHHE R A A W

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION R EBRW (4)
UNCERTAINITY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting JE R & G BRI 2 R B (A7)
policies (continued)

Depreciation &

The Group depreciates the property, plant and A B W 2 - R B M ek A 2 A R
equipment over their estimated useful life and after FAE A > 2840 B H Al wH BB (E 42 65
taking into account of their estimated residual values, HAEH Y - W KR at iR e o
using the straight line method. The estimated useful 5T A 47 1 2 e o =5 3 5t ) 0 AR
life reflects the directors’ estimate of the periods that £ W) 3£ - RR I B % A EE A R AR AR %
the Group intends to derive future economic benefits F 45 2 Al w0 ) o 2R AE 2 WA 7
from the use of the Group’s property, plant and BB B N YR A BR A T R AR R A AN 2R
equipment. The residual values reflect the directors’ DUIRE > 3 =5 50 A 4R [ A I R
estimated amount that the Group would currently AR Z Al A B (KA ER Al FE & R
obtain from disposal of the assets, after deducting the ) o

estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end

of its useful life.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty Mt AR 2 EEERHE

The following are the key assumptions concerning DTNABABRRRZ FEMBE DR
the future, and other key sources of estimation e 1 T 45 PRI 2 A Al RN BT B
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period R FERE HAGEST — MK
that have a significant risk of causing a material 2 B R A R T (ELAE B OR OR BE
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and Z R B

liabilities within the next financial year.

Valuation of financial instruments BB TR A

The Group uses valuation techniques that include A SR A 2 Ak (8 7 i LA NI R R R
inputs that are not based on observable market ARSI WO 2 AR - DU EEE
data to estimate the fair value of certain types TR 2 W B T H 2 A B AE - fgEs
of financial instruments. Notes 5 and 16 provide K16t 8 B TR 2 A B A
detailed information about the key assumptions used iz FERFZFAER . DR
in the determination of the fair value of financial S5 R R 2 R AU B A AT e

instruments, as well as the detailed sensitivity

analysis for these assumptions.

The directors believe that the chosen valuation HHG A I A 2 AGE T KT
techniques and assumptions used are appropriate in M ZARE#H G EMB TRZ AR
determining the fair value of financial instruments. B AE -
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity investments, receivables, payables and
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies
applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set
out below. Management monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a

timely and effective manner.

(1) Risk management
(a) Market risk
The Group’s strategy for the management
of market risk is driven by the Group’s
investment objective. The Group’s market
risk is managed on a daily basis by the
investment manager in accordance with
policies and procedures in place. The
Group’s market positions are monitored on
a monthly basis by the Board of Directors,
and the investments in equity of other
entities are Hong Kong and overseas listed
and unlisted equity. Decisions to buy or
sell trading securities are based on daily
monitoring of the performance of individual
securities compared to that of the relevant
stock market index and other industry
indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity
needs. To manage its price risk arising from
the equity securities, the Group maintains a
portfolio of diversified investments in terms
of industry distribution such as investment
holding and minerals industry sectors.
Temporarily, the Group’s management has
monitored price risk and will consider

hedging of the risk if necessary.

S 25 I g 4 L

A SR 2 X B B TR AR AR £
VG B R A R A B e %
BB T B 2 A R A 1 W A %
B3 5 B 5 LB AT I L B A 4
7 A W 26 e T MR 2 BSOS
3C o R 5 M L DA R R
A 280 R TR A i

(1) JRU B4 B
(a) 15 i

A 42 8 45 HE T 8 R R 2 ORI
B iR A 45 18 2 $ A o 12
GRS e A H R BRI T 2 B
N RE A LR 4R 2 T 3
JEB o R EY A ERARE
] 2 T 35 5 A6 > i A JH Al
Z A By A s I A
Z b Bk B A - P E
B HHFREGH T B W
FIT B 5 A1 731 2% 5 S bE AR B A
ZETH 5 T8 B % At AT 2 T8 AR
ZHEB DL RAREE Z B E
LB E o Ly H AT 5
JIT A 2 B R > A 4R 4R
G A TEAT 0 4
Z it s i k2 AT EEER
B KR E AT o AL E
2 B HLE G i R S A%
B o A% A A T BN B
A B R o
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(1) Risk management (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(b)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
equity price risk at the reporting date. For
sensitivity analysis purpose, the sensitivity

rate is remained at 15% in the current year.

If listed equity prices had been 15% higher/
lower (2010: 15% higher/lower), loss for
the year ended 31st December 2011 would
decrease/increase by HK$21,243,567 (2010:
decreased/increased by HK$37,779,546). It
is mainly due to the changes in fair value
of financial assets designated as held for
trading. Also, if the unlisted equity prices
had increased/decreased by 15% (2010:
15%) and all other variables were held
constant, loss for the year ended 31st
December 2011 would decrease/increase by
HK$2,752,500 (2010: decreased/increased by
HK$3,231,118)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or
counterparty will be unable or unwilling to
meet a commitment that it has entered with
the Group. Financial assets which potentially
subject the Group to concentrations of
credit risk consist principally of financial
assets designated as held for trading, bank
balances and accounts receivable on sale of

investments.
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(b)
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B (ZE—FE WD/
37,779,546 ) » £ E
R AE E R E R E 2 W
M AN Fo fE (A B T 2o
U Ak o A FE B T R A A A
T+ T #R15% (& —F4F
15% ) » T fr A H: Aih 58 85 4
BAg A@E & ——4F
T+ A=+ —HIEEEZE
B WD n2,752,500%
TG ( R b 1N
3,231,118#J0) o

1 B B

(ER N AR RPN S
%5 75 5 A BE BOA I <y B
A T T AR R o AR £R
VR Y e ZE R % 15 B B 4
Z W R E AR E
HIFERH 2 MBS EE - AT
& B I B 1E R 2 B ROEK
JH o



Notes to the Financial Statements

A 265 it % Bt

For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

5. Mg bEEH (4)

) HEEER (F)
(b) 15 B FE (#4F)

(1) Risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk
by transacting the majority of its financial
assets and contractual commitment activities
with broker-dealers, banks and regulated
exchanges with high credit ratings and that
the Group considers to be well established.
All transactions in listed financial assets
are settled/paid for upon delivery using

approved and reputable brokers.

Accordingly, the Group has no significant

concentration of credit risk.

Zl—‘%@iﬁi?%,ﬂx%?ﬁ‘ﬂﬁ&
KEBMBLETEHZ L Z EHE
BRZHELSMEE R
K EB Ay BB K HEAT B A
ARYEE B DARR i H BRI 2
5 BB o A b IS
5 oy ¥ 8% FH AR AT SN 44 R AL
ST RESE T 3K o

PRI > A 4R B 22 £ 5 e o Sl 2
WL

(¢) Liquidity risk (c) 7B & & b
The Group’s objective is to maintain a AR 2 H B AE S A
balance between continuity of funding and R RAE > M E
flexibility through the utilisation of margin 4 5 S B 0 ] A o
facilities of securities brokers. The Group A B2 TS AN IR A T B
will keep reviewing its financial needs B DU E AT R BTN B 2 IR
from time to time to determine the timing ] o A St AR - AR 1B 2 B
of carrying out fund raising activities. The H5 A AR G # R I 34T K
maturity profile of the Group’s financial g3 Z B IR SRS R
liabilities at the end of the reporting period
based on contractual undiscounted payments
are summarised below:
2011
ZE—f
Weighted
average
interest rate On demand  Within 1 year 1-3 years Total
T b P £ A % TEE —HEN —FE=H it
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$
T # 70 i 7t 7
Creditors and accrued i 3005 &
expenses HiE R - 395,100 - - 395,100
Borrowings iy 5% - 51,333,120 = 51,333,120
395,100 51,333,120 = 51,728,220
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
(1) Risk management (continued)
(¢) Liquidity risk (continued)

Weighted
average
interest rate

T b ¥y A %

5. Mg mbEEE ()

On demand
%ok

HKS$

I

(1) EEgE B (A
(©) B & &R ()

2010
L

Within 1 year 1-3 years Total
—HEW —E=H it
HK$ HK$ HK$

Creditors and accrued  JEFT#JE K
expenses HERER >

5 . 2,060,160

(d) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk related
primarily to the variable interest bearing

deposits and debts.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below, which include
interest rate exposure on variable interest
bearing bank deposits, debt securities and
short term loan, have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for both
derivatives and non-derivative instruments
at the end of the reporting period. A 100
basis point change is used which represents
management’s assessment of the possible

change in interest rates.

If interest rates have been 100 basis points
higher/lower (2010: 100 basis points higher/
lower) and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s loss for the year
ended 31st December 2011 would increase/
decrease by HK$395,843 (2010: decrease/
increase by HK$113,064).
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(1) Risk management (continued)

(e) Foreign currency risk

)

At the end of reporting period, the Group
does not have any foreign currency asset
or liability except for the cash and bank
balances in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounting
to RMB3,998. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
Accordingly, the Group’s foreign currency
risk is insignificant. The management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging foreign currency exposure

should the need arises.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or
indirect (loss)/profit arising from a wide
variety of causes associated with the
processes and technology supporting
the Group’s operations either internally
within the Group or externally at the
Group’s service provider, and from external
factors other than credit, market and
liquidity risks such as those arising from
legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of investment
management behaviour. Operational risks

arise from all of the Group’s activities.

The Group’s objective is to manage
operational risk so as to balance limiting of
financial losses and damage to its reputation
with achieving its investment objective of

generating returns to investors.

5. Mg bEEH (4)

(1) EKER (A
(e) S} B

®)

R B R > B BN R
(TAR®DFHEZ AR
3,99870 Bl & K 4R AT &5 ik 4b >
2 42 [ 37 48 AT o] S0 ¥ K 7 B
BAE o AKE 3] B I Sl 4 A1 U )
B o R I > A 4 ] A1 S
B i AN E K o A L L X O BB
JER - 00 B IR 2 T A
JE o

= b

B Fr Y IR B 2 A A DR
B BT EE A 2 B e O
1)/ F 2 JE B % 4% LA
W KR A S
J B AT (A i B T A 4 11 79
P8 B A 4R A1 A IR 5 11 e 7 )
ARl A5 4 > T 4 B R B
&AM 2 SME R R > ik A
Be B B E DA R B A BLAT
Ty 2 e HE R T I A 2 Ja B o
B B IR H A SR T 2R
BiEE -

A £ M 2 R B 2 H R
oy A AR S T R R R
B BB BUE A R
] ¥ 2 L& H BRSP4 o
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. Mg mbEEE ()
(continued)
(1) Risk management (continued) (1) EBEEBE (4 )
(f) Operational risk (continued) ) ZEEFE (74)
The primary responsibility for the HEHGRIERRKETEE
development and implementation of controls JEB el 2 E R o IWIH B AT
over operational risk rests with the Board B 2% 87 B v 7R T g R PR O
of Directors. This responsibility is supported SCRE > H KRBt e v 2 B
by the development of overall standards for P RAETT > DA B 2y likows 4t e i
the management of operational risk, which A AT #6055 K

encompasses the controls and processes at
the service providers and the establishment
of service levels with the service providers,

in the following areas:

s requirements for appropriate segregation o BUE B E L S Bk EE - A
of duties between various functions, o S AT TR 0 48 s

roles and responsibilities;

« requirements for the reconciliation and . HlEENTRKSHBIRERE
monitoring of the transactions; %5

* compliance with regulatory and other o HESFEE R HAb M
legal requirements; JE 5

« documentation of controls and o EEEERARF M
procedures;

* requirements for the periodic assessment o HLE RE WINPT S
of operational risks faced, and the JE B > DA B i B i ik il
adequacy of controls and procedures to bz B MR F A
address the risks identified; B s

* contingency plans; . MESEGTH]
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
(1) Risk management (continued)
(f) Operational risk (continued)

e ethical and business standards; and

* risk mitigation, including insurance

where this is effective.

The directors’ assessment over the adequacy
of the controls and processes in place at the
service providers with respect to operational
risks is carried out via regular discussions
with the service providers and a review of
the service providers’ reports on internal

controls, where available and practicable.

(2) Fair value of financial instruments
The Group measures fair values using the
following fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the

measurements:

* Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in

an active market for an identical instrument;

e Level 2: Valuation techniques based on
observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices). This category includes instruments
valued using: quoted market prices in active
markets for similar instruments; quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are considered less than active;
or other valuation techniques where all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly

observable from market data; and

5. Mg bEEH (4)

(1) EKER (A
() EHEW T ()
o HETER IR K

o WCIRE B B R B (M0
BR) -

T 497 0 5E ) B B L
HEAT Wl > LA L o B A 5 {1t
P 22 PR B P (A BT
1) > WAk AR B 1 B ey A
IR 5 T Ja By 2 B KRR PR
A o

) MBLAZAREM
7 B2 B (1T 51 AT S st R B
WA EEEZ N ABEES
A% ) B wh R A

o B ME TR RGBS
Z WA (REHE)

o BB AR BRI ABUE I A\ B
(J&§ B4 (RpEA% ) sl (B
BB ) Z AT % -+
or BURLAE 6 R 51 7 i AT
fifEZ TR : BT R
T35 2 T 35 4k M8 5 AR [R] S )
TR EL i T 5 2 W fE
CAECIEE 3N € SO NE
e B 0 T 8 R A A
52 H A A (E B0l 5 &
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(2) Fair value of financial instruments

(continued)

e Level 3: Valuation techniques using
significant unobservable inputs. This
category includes all instruments where
the valuation technique includes inputs
not based on observable data and the
unobservable inputs have a significant effect
on the instrument’s valuation. This category
includes instruments that are valued based
on quoted prices of similar instruments
where significant unobservable adjustments
or assumptions are required to reflect

differences between the instruments.

Fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are traded in active markets are
based on quoted market prices or dealer price
quotations. For all other financial instruments,
the Group determines fair values using valuation

techniques.

The table below analyses financial instruments

measured at fair value at the end of the reporting

5. Mg mbEEE ()

(2) MH THZ N RN (4)

o BB B A OROR AT B A
AR 2 AGEF - 220 B
15 A0 (8 77 ¥ 33 IF 5L iR v] B4R
T A BOPE B w] B A A B
BHTHZIMEAERPE
A T H a0 BasE s
I T E Z A& A58 > BAE
1t 8 B 2 A ] B 5% o R
et RS> THo

TR T BT 0 O 2 W R
B AR o s DL 35 A S

32 5y T M A B o 2R B A H A
WA T > A S B & A Al (E D5 1%
i N SO fEAE -

RS WK BA S ARE (E R
BB TR Jhik s AfEERE &

period by the level in the fair value hierarchy /\ﬁﬁﬁ/\fﬁﬁfﬁ%‘%& & BE 7 418
into which the fair value measurement is 49 I3 AT A0 -
categorised:
2011
o
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
% BB BB it
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
# 7t # 70 # 70 # 70
Financial assets designated B & hFEHEZ
as held for trading W
Equity securities A 7% % 141,623,781 = 1,500,000 143,123,781
Debt securities BB ER 2 16,850,000 - 16,850,000
141,623,781 16,850,000 1,500,000 159,973,781
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
(2) Fair value of financial instruments

(continued)

5. Mg bEEH (4)

) MHTHZAREME ()

2010
“F -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—H 8 F=# At
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T T W T i
Financial assets designated #i#i € A fEHEZ
as held for trading S
Equity securities A8 45 251,863,639 = 1,500,000 253,363,639
Debt securities Ve = 20,040,785 = 20,040,785
251,863,639 20,040,785 1,500,000 273,404,424

During the years ended 31st December 2011 and
2010, there were no significant transfers between

financial instruments in level 1 and level 2.

There was no movement and gain or loss for
the financial assets in level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy for the years ended 31st December
2011 and 2010.

B2 XF——F R _F—FF
+ A=+ —HILERE > BT
THAES —REE R HEEKX
A o

REE_F——F L _F—F4F
ToA=t—RLEFE RARE
BRI ELE =R B EEZ
T M WO e 5 o o
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. A% E B B ()

(continued)
(3) Classification and fair value of financial G) MEEERAGBEZSEEA LHE
assets and liabilities &
The carrying amounts of each of the categories K HA 5 LA 0 R 2 MR T
of financial instruments as at the end of the mr
reporting period are as follows:
Financial
assets
designated Other Total
as held Loans and financial carrying
for trading receivables liabilities amount
et & B b 1k
HEZMBEEE SHRRERKE  HeMEAR I T 4 £
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
31st December 2011 [/ S {5 S
=Z+—H
Financial assets designated as 48 € AFFHERE 2
held for trading W B 159,973,781 = = 159,973,781
Accounts receivable, deposit  MEHUHUE ~ 14 R AT FUR
and prepayment - 7,202,066 - 7,202,066
Cash and bank balances Be RBITER - 6,651,963 - 6,651,963
159,973,781 13,854,029 - 173,827,810
Creditors and accrued expenses JE R #0H & F 12 % - - 395,100 395,100
Borrowings fri i - - 50,421,918 50,421,918
- - 50,817,018 50,817,018
31st December 2010 MZE—ZEFZA
=t A
Financial assets designated as  #(48& AFHERE 2
held for trading W B 273,404,424 = = 273,404,424
Accounts receivable, deposit  FEWGHUE ~ & KB R
and prepayment - 392,202 - 392,202
Cash and bank balances Ba BT 5 - 13,104,498 - 13,104,498
273,404,424 13,496,700 . 286,901,124
Creditors and accrued expenses J&{f #H K T #2 % - - 2,060,160 2,060,160
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6. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING 6. Wi B i = A
INCOME
An analysis of revenue and other operating income is W i B oAt & A AT B
as follows:
2011 2010
D S F-FF
HK$ HK$
i o T
Revenue: W £ -
Dividend income from financial R B#EEHFFIEREZ
assets designated as held for WA 5 i 2 IR A
trading 130,931 392,662
Other operating income: He Al 2 SR
Exchange gain, net BEE 58, 5 4 3 7R 156 374,502
Gain on disposal of property, B - MR MR M 2 I tR
plant and equipment - 185,069
Refund of brokerage fee and RIBERAE A K&
commission 850,000 -
Sundry income HMETE WA 207,115 562,017
1,057,271 1,121,588
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. KR

Business segments

During the years ended 31st December 2011 and
2010, the Group’s revenue and net loss mainly
derived from the dividend income from investment
holding. The directors consider that these activities
constitute one business segment since these
transactions are subject to common risks and
returns. Given the nature of the Group’s operation is
investment holding, it is not considered meaningful
to provide a business segment analysis of operating

loss.

EH M
REBE-F-—Fk_F—FF+=
H:+~EIJ}:¢BZ>$§%I§IZ%Z@&
s 18 93 A T B B U R i BBl
A EAHG S > R a% 5 5 5 T A

JE\ B e =2 A AL [R) [m > [RIBE » 5% 55 26
WA — T SE B 7 - SRR A S 2 &
BUHEBBEER RELEERLZ
KB PN ERAK -
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. AHER (4H)
Geographical segments b I 43 38
The following is an analysis of the Group’s PLTF £ AR 25 A BE % B 1 T 35 o B
revenue based on the location of the markets AL E W g T - A B 2 )2
of the respective investments; and the Group’s W7 Kt (THEE R B & 1) R
property, plant and equipment (the “Specified Non- BWE - RRE KR & B P A E
current Asset”) and additions to property, plant and G3HT

equipment, analysed by the geographical area in

which the assets are located:

Hong Kong Singapore
i 7 n 8¢
2011 2010 2011 2010
“g——%  -F-%F  Z%—%  -F-%F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
e T 7 o
Segment revenue: S g
Dividend received a4 95} 130,931 188,500 - 204,162
Other information: HibER
Specified Non-current Asset HEFRBEE 193,809 1,007,539 = =
Additions to property, plant IR EYE - B K&
and equipment 21,668 323,733 = =
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MHB#EM
2011 2010
—g——4% C—Z—%F
HK$ HK$

Interest on borrowings wholly R E (R —F RN
repayable within one year THMER) 2,035,177 209,615
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9.

TAXATION

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made for both years as the Group did not have any

assessable profits for both years.

e JE
s A5 Bl LA aZ AR 47 B 2 A6 51 R
T Y F) 4% Bl 2R 16.5% 1M 5154 ©

PP A 4 I 7R % {1 4 2 A Sl R
i v H) > % 8 AR R Sl S s A o
THBLAE A o

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the A A B 3 T B A A THT U 4 3R BR B
loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of Uﬁﬁfﬁzﬂfﬁ%ﬁﬂ? :
comprehensive income as follows:
2011 2010
o
HK$ HK$
Loss before taxation R B i s 18 (213,916,171) (48,047,723)
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated &% #5 F1 15 Bi Bl %16.5%

at the rate of 16.5% (2010:
16.5%)

Tax effect of expenses not
deductible for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose

Tax effect of deductible
temporary differences not
recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not
recognised

(= F—FHF:16.5%)
AHE 2 BLIE
AN ] 0B BH 3 2 B R B

T R B A Z B 5 5 2

I R T 0 R 2 L B

J 9

/‘T!/ =

IR e BB TE S 1R 2 B e 2

(35,296,168) (7,927,874)
3,806 3,394
(21,604) (95,320)
(33,734) 46,254
35,347,700 7,973,552

Tax expense for the year

A AF BB IH 32 i

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$725,836,934 (2010: HK$512,870,739) to set off

against future taxable income.

No deferred tax

asset is recognised in respect of such tax losses
carried forward as the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits could not be
reasonably assessed. The tax losses do not expire

under the current tax legislation.

The Group and the Company had no material
unprovided deferred tax liabilities at the end of the

reporting period (2010: HK$nil).

T R R - AR 4R T A A R OR e AR

B TH 5 18 49725,836,934 06 ( & —
F 4 0 512,870,739% 76 ) > AT A DA HE 8

ﬂ%ﬂwﬁn%ﬁ%()\ HI A R RE & B A 2

8 A SR R i ] 52 B AH B A s M
> LA IR A BB JE s 18 510 2 e R
RIEBLIH G E - MARBATBLE > Bl
HAGEIW -

DI &tz I - S Iy N/ I Y
(N S A Lmlﬁgﬁ —E—
TR IT)
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10.LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE 10. B 3 JE Al 42 4 )i 40
TO MEMBERS
2011 2010
—E & e S 22
HK$ HK$
& T T
Loss for the year attributable to [ 5 A 4F (A 5 48 T3 8
members has been arrived at FABR AT S JHA A
after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration A% B3R P < 200,000 185,000
Investment management fee O 2 840,000 480,000
Depreciation of property, plant ¥~ &5 Kt 2 e
and equipment 292,046 464,686
Net loss on disposal of HEY ¥ ME Rz
property, plant and Ji5 48 15 3
equipment 1,203,352 -
Net realised loss on disposal HEHIEERIFEREZ
of listed financial assets FH MR EE OB
designated as held for trading &5 15 15 4R 84,642,439 19,505,894
Net realised loss on disposal WE MR E BFHEEE
of unlisted financial assets F B EE 2 C s
designated as held for trading T s 48 5 A 1,080,785 =
Net unrealised loss on e AFEEEZ Bl
investments in listed financial MHEEREZ REH
assets designated as held for s 15 1
trading 111,870,741 25,993,930
Net unrealised loss on WA EBFEEEZ I BT
investments in unlisted WMHEEREZ REH
financial assets designated as Js 48 1
held for trading 3,150,000 -
Operating lease rentals in GEIRY/E 5 <8 -2 R it e
respect of rented premises 1,260,375 864,000
Share based payments J& A A5 K = 1,275,478
Directors’ remuneration and M & B LA
staff costs
Salaries B 6,041,788 3,202,000
Contributions to MPF scheme o FE 4 T # At K 94,378 81,600
And after crediting: NIA SN
Net unrealised gain on %ﬁ? ERFHERE 2 B
investments in unlisted MHEEREZ REH
financial assets designated as W ETREIE ]
held for trading - 4,144 574
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 11. % W &
2011 2010
R & e S S8
HKS$ HK$
Fees i
Executive directors HiTESR - -
Independent non-executive WL AT E SR
directors 613,457 360,000
Other emoluments of executive 17 # & Z H AL 4
directors
Management remuneration L 4 4,045,769 1,464,000
Contributions to MPF Scheme FER N I 50,375 30,000
Total emoluments P 4 A %E 4,709,601 1,854,000
The number of directors whose remuneration fell M A F R F I R 2 B N R
within the following band is as follow:
2011 2010
R — R
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 Z ¥ 7T 21,000,000% 7T 15 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 %5 7C % 2,000,000 7T 1 =
16 7
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the A A FE A > A B2 M AR 1) o S S AT
Group to the directors as an inducement to join a7 P <6 B W5 | A SR A AR 4 [ 2
or upon joining the Group or as compensation # <5 B A 0 > S R S R A A 4
for loss of office and no directors had waived any JE T Tk B AT AT P <5

emoluments for both years.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the

11.EFWE (4)
EfERESMS A2 (ZF—FF L

sixteen (2010: seven) directors were as follows: F)ERELXAZMEWT
2011 2010
"R CF-%E
Employer’s
contributions
Management to MPF Total Total
Fees remuneration Scheme  emoluments emoluments
B AT A
W EHME  EEMER 4 4 4 4
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
It Wt It Ny T
Executive directors ANEF
CHUNG Yuk Lun AHH = 1,802,000 12,000 1,814,000 972,000
SHIMAZAKI Koji Uiy 57 7] - 381,000 10,000 391,000 126,000
CHEUNG Wing Ping (Note 1) 4T (M#1) = 362,000 6,000 368,000 L
SAM Nickolas David Hing Cheong LB ( M2/

(Note 2) = 452,500 6,125 458,625 -
CHUA Kei Wah (Note 3) BRCE (fif2t3) - 551,774 4,250 556,024 -
MIU H. Frank (Note 4) B% () . 103,334 = 103,334 -
LIU On Bong, Peter (Note 3) B (i) - 228,000 6,000 234,000 396,000
CHOI Ka Nam (Note 6) B5h (i) £ 165,161 6,000 171,161 .
Independent non-executive BukamEs

directors
LUM Pak Sum MR #R 190,166 - = 190,166 71,613
LAM Yan Fong, Flora (Note 7). WJkF7 (Hfit7) 47,742 - - 47,742 =
NG Yin Ling, Elaine (Note 7) SR (M) 47,742 - - 47,742 =
YAU Chung Hong (Note 8) LB (Mg 40,667 - - 40,667 -
Gary Drew DOUGLAS (Note 3)  Gary Drew DOUGLAS (#/##3) 73,570 - - 73,570 -
LAM Suk Ping (Note 3) WA (Hf2#3) 73,570 - - 73,570 -
KAN Kwok Shu, Albert (Note 5)  fBUAE (#it5) 70,000 = = 70,000 120,000
WONG Wai Man, Raymond FAE ()

(Note 5) 70,000 - - 70,000 120,000
CHAN Sze Hung (Note 9) WAL (Hito) = = - - 48,387
Total B 013,457 4,045,769 50375 4,709,601 1,854,000
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

11.

12.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

1.  Appointed on 30th June 2011.

2. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 15th March
2012.

3.  Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 20th October
2011.

4. Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 1st August
2011.

5.  Retired on 30th June 2011.

6.  Appointed on 7th January 2011 and retired on 30th June
2011.
Appointed on 20th October 2011.
Appointed on 30th June 2011 and resigned on 16th
December 2011.

9.  Retired on 27th May 2010.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, four (2010: two) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures in note 11 above. The emoluments of the

remaining one individual (2010: three) was as follows:

11.

12.

EHME ()
Wt

1. ROF——FRNA=ZTHEZEE-

2. R-F——HAA=Z+HEZELR -F
——H=ZH+HHBE-

3. REF——HEANA=ZTHEZRE®R -F
—— 4+ H T HEHME

4. RIZFE——HERNA=THEZRERR -F

——4ENH—HBEHE-

o E-—ERNHAZ T HIBAL

6. MZF——H—HLHEZLELR_-F
——FANHA=ZTHBT-
R_F—-——H+A-+HEZRL-
AR E T BRI R —F
—— 4+ H R H R

9. M-F—FFEAH_+LABME

N

& & B

AL AR e N g U4 (2
T H) RARFESR HF
Z B B b SO REL 1B R o H R —
H (2R =4) AL 24
T

2011 2010

g% —F-%H

HK$ HK$

g T

Basic salaries and other benefits &7 3 4 M H b 45 ) 420,000 1,048,000
Contributions to MPF schemes 8 R 4 EEE K 12,000 35,100
Total emoluments P 45 AR %H 432,000 1,083,100

None of each of the employees during the year was
within the emoluments band ranging from HK$nil to
HK$1,000,000 (2010: HK$nil to HK$1,000,000).

During the year, no remuneration (2010: HK$nil)
was paid by the Group to any of the highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

AL AR B 24 R
JGE1,000,000% 70 ( —F—F4F : T
JC%1,000,0009 9T o

AR T AR A P AR B ) A R T B
SAHMEMTI & (= F —F4F: Fion)
P8 T W 5| A A B2 1 2 5% < s e T el

fH -
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

13.

14.

38

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31st December
2011 (2010: niD).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based
on the loss for the year of HK$213,916,171 (2010:
HK$48,047,723) and the weighted average number
of 217,035,765 (2010 (adjusted): 89,173,337) ordinary

shares in issue during the year. The loss per share

has been adjusted to reflect the consolidation of

shares and the rights issue during the year and the

rights issue after the end of the reporting period.

For the years ended 31st December 2011 and 2010,
as there was an anti-dilutive effect after adjusting for
the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares,
diluted loss per share was the same as the basic loss

per share.

RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED 3## & A & A 2w

13. iz B

EHREAEHARBE T ——F 1+

H=Z+—HILEERMNRBEL (=
F—FF )

B % s 1R

B I A S B T R AR E S 4R
213,916,171# JC ( =& — F4F ¢
48,047,723W J0 ) KA AE O 8 47 3 8
J& i HE SF- ¥4 #217,035,765 8% (=&
T (KPFE) £ 89,173,337]K) 1fi 7+
B oo B B R A8 T B DL A AR 4E
FE N 2 Iy & B B A2 e DA A sk 4 3
KAz 2 ALk

BE_F——HL_FT-FHF+_H
=+ — HIRAFE iR g R P A v
EE B M EBR AR R
o Je 4 4 e 4R LA S R A B AR A (]
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. %3 ~ B K ok i
Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
improvement  and fixtures equipment vehicle Total
MENEEE  BEREE  HAERMH FH FLEil
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
Wi Wt wIi Wt L
COST WA
At 1st January 2010 R-Z-FH—-A—H 1,843,507 156,088 148,385 527,764 2,675,744
Additions WE 6,000 75,850 241,883 - 323,733
Disposals e (38,280) (33,690) (92,034) (527,764) (692,368)

At 31st December 2010 and 1st R -Z—FFEF-H=+—HK

January 2011 “Z——%—-H—H 1,811,227 198,248 297,634 - 2,307,109
Additions nE = . 21,668 = 21,668
Disposals & (1,811,227) (198,248) (11,540) - (2,021,015)
At 31st December 2011 RZF——#+ZA=+—H - - 307,762 - 307,762
ACCUMULATED Rt 4 R

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At st January 2010 REZ-FE—-A—H 205,741 36,337 100,070 510,173 852,321
Charge for the year RAEE 362,122 38,969 46,004 17,591 464,086
Eliminated on disposals i L B (37,575) (27,612) (84,480) (527,764) (677,437)

At 31st December 2010 and 1st ~ R-ZF—ZFFE+-A=+—HR

January 2011 “F——f-f—H 530,288 47,694 01,588 - 039,570
Charge for the year AREEFE R 211,310 23,129 57,607 £ 292,046
Eliminated on disposals i 0 I A 4 (741,598) (70,823) (5,242) - (817,063)
At 31st December 2011 RE-B——HE+ZH=+—H = - 113,953 - 113,953
NET BOOK VALUE I T A
At 31st December 2011 RE-Z——H+ZA=Z+—H = = 193,809 - 193,809
At 31st December 2010 REF—-FEFZH=F—H 1,280,939 150,554 236,046 = 1,007,539
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

16.FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS 16.HIEEAREEE 2 MBEE E
HELD FOR TRADING

2011 2010
—g——% —T-FF
HK$ HK$
# o T
Financial assets designated as M ER/IHFEHEZ
held for trading: W B
Equity securities listed in A HE LT 2 RS 7 I
Hong Kong 141,623,781 248,090,366
Equity securities listed outside R N i P N
Hong Kong - 3,767,273
141,623,781 251,863,639
Unlisted debt securities FE b T 7 2 16,850,000 20,040,785
Unlisted equity securities I b TR A S 1,500,000 1,500,000
159,973,781 273,404,424
Market value of financial assets WA=+ —H¥dsE AR
designated as held for trading EEE 2 B EEZ 1l
as at 31st December 141,623,781 251,863,639
The unlisted debt securities was issued by listed FEHEBESE ARSI
companies. The market for the unlisted debt T S R IR S A R S Sl A T G T
securities and the unlisted equity securities is B i AR BT 2 M ARt 2
not active, so the Group establishes the value by S %GR BAEE BT
references provided by the financial institution. Tt W4 N T R RVETT 2 38 5 ] 2 7% K3
includes the use of recent arm’s length transaction MRz 75— T H-

and reference to another instrument that is

substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

16.FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS 16. #4755 2 F5¢ 1F H 8 2 M85 & &
HELD FOR TRADING (continued) (%)
Particulars of the 10 largest investments as at 31st ARAR_F——H#+_H=+—HZ
December 2011 are as follows: TREEHEEFEWT
Proportion
of investee’s Dividend
capital Unrealised received/
owned as at gain (loss) receivable
Number of  31st December Carrying Market arising on during
Name of investee company shares held 2011 value/cost value  revaluation the year
REZ——4
FZHZ+—H
HE% BffiELEZ AR
Jit $% BE A KB i/
BB EAT AR it 4 8 H EARWLH IR A W B OEE) B W Bt B
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T T oo EoH
Rising Development Holdings Limited (note 1) 29,918,000 2.16% 53,254,040 29,020,460 (24,233,580) =
BRI ERARAR (1)
Forefront Group Limited (note 2) 182,435,552 4.99% 22,681,004 18,608,426 (4,072,578) =
TR EA RN (i i2)
Oriental Ginza Holdings Limited (note 3) 50,000,000 1.14% 19,001,520 18,250,000 (751,520) -
FOT SRR A R AT (H73)
Heritage International Holdings Limited (note 4) 134,230,000 2.04% 32,790,957 17,584,130 (15,206,827) -
BT RA A (4
Heritage International Holdings 1,380,000 N/A N/A 168,360 168,360 —
Limited (warrants) (note 4)
BB RA AR (RIRHER) (i it4) b A
Kingston Financial Group Limited (note 3) 20,527,000 0.17% 22,618,783 16,421,600 (6,197,183) 102,635
SHYSREBARAR (Mits)
Rising Development Holdings Limited N/A N/A 10,000,000 9,700,000 (300,000 -
(unlisted convertible notes) (note 1)
BREEERAR AT (F iR ER) i b
(W1
China New Energy Power Group Limited N/A N/A 10,000,000 7,150,000 (2,850,000) -
(unlisted convertible notes) (note 6)
AR IRE) ) AR A IR AR (FF Ll AT SR ) A A
(Hf##o)
China Public Healthcare (Holding) Limited 121,000,000 1.07% 11,011,000 6,897,000 (4,114,000) -
(note 7)
AR () AIRAR (Hi7)
Beijing Yu Sheng Tang Pharmaceutical Group 175,376,000 3.55% 15,985,073 5,962,784 (10,022,289) =

Limited (note 8)
T A S WA A (M aEs)
China Strategic Holdings Limited (note 9) 34,593,332 0.94% 9,167,233 5,327,373 (3,839,860) -
Wk B A R E (H L)
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

16.FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS
HELD FOR TRADING (continued)
A brief description of the business and financial
information of the listed investee companies which
represents a significant proportion of the Group’s
assets, based on their latest published annual reports

is as follows:

Notes:

(1) Rising Development Holdings Limited (“Rising”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and principally engaged in (i)
investment holding and trading in securities; (ii) trading
and sales of fur garments; (iii) trading of fur skins; and (iv)

business of mining natural resources.

For the year ended 31st March 2011, the audited consolidated
net loss from ordinary activities attributable to shareholders
of Rising was approximately HK$114,081,000 and the basic
loss per share was HK8.23 cents. As at 31st March 2011,
the audited consolidated net asset value was approximately
HK$1,213,747,000.

(2) Forefront Group Limited (“Forefront”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and principally engaged in (i) selling
and distribution of motor vehicles; (i) provision of logistic
services; (iii) forestry business; (iv) property investments; and

(v) money-lending.

For the year ended 31st December 2011, the audited
consolidated net loss from ordinary activities attributable to
shareholders of Forefront was approximately HK$329,308,000
and the basic loss per share was HK$0.12. As at 31st
December 2011, the audited consolidated net asset value was
approximately HK$954,837,000.

02  RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED  H#ef & ACH % 45 24 7]

16. 840 E BFFEH B 2 M5 & =
(#4%)
o A% 2 O B 2 B B Ll
2 ) 2 R BB R (IR IR
A B0 T 9 2 AR MR R

)

JE R A M A PR A (TREAE D) IR 4%
T R ML o T A (DB B R S
O GDRE R 8 R WA GiD B &
HE R G B ER A R & TS -

BE-E - —HF=ZH=1+HILFEE &
BRI RMEAL B % ¥ 2 RERE AR
T AH 41114,081,000%5 JC > 4 I 5L A figs 15 7%
823l - A ZF——HFE=HA=+—H &
TG O B T A71,213,747,0008 T ©

T A RAE (T4EI7]) B2 HE S
A ST - AR DV S A B oy
G- BEY) IS 5 GiDMRAR 5 5 G
G TR

BE_ZE——F T A=1T—HIEFE.
R REAL B R 3 2 SE A A R
T A £1329,308,000% JC > 1M 45 i 5 A i 15
BORB T A FE——F T+ H=1+—
H o 8 4% 55 6 4 VR 1 9954,837,00045
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

16.FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS
HELD FOR TRADING (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(3) Oriental Ginza Holdings Limited (“Oriental Ginza”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and principally engaged in (i)
property investment; and (ii) retail-related consultancy and

management services.

For the year ended 31st December 2011, the audited
consolidated net loss from ordinary activities attributable
to shareholders of Oriental Ginza was approximately
HK$69,547,000 and the basic loss per share was HK$0.059.
As at 31st December 2011, the audited consolidated net asset

value was approximately HK$5,847,113,000.

(4) Heritage International Holdings Limited (“Heritage”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and principally engaged in (i)
property investment; (ii) investments in securities; (iii) money
lending; (iv) investment holding; (v) investment in lottery
related business in the PRC; and (vi) chinese medicine clinic

operation.

For the year ended 31st March 2011, the audited consolidated
net loss from ordinary activities attributable to shareholders
of Heritage was approximately HK$391,908,000 and the
basic loss per share was HK$2.58. As at 31st March 2011,
the audited consolidated net asset value was approximately
HK$957,970,000.

(5) Kingston Financial Group Limited (“Kingston”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and principally engaged in (i)
operating restaurant, casino and hotel; (ii) hotel management
services; and (iii) trading of listed securities and financial

services.

For the twelve months period ended 31st December
2011, the unaudited consolidated net profit from ordinary
activities attributable to shareholders of Kingston was
approximately HK$451,465,000 and the basic earnings per
share were HK3.17 cents. As at 31st December 2011, the
unaudited consolidated net asset value was approximately
HK$13,752,654,000.

16. AR E AT ERE I MBHE R

(#)
Wik (A1)
(3) 7 SR B AT R A 7 (SR SR D) 7

(€]

5)

FAE s LR Sr > EERFEOWERE
Fe (i) 2 B AH B 9 386 w0 B BRIR S o

BE_EF—-—H+_H=+—HI%
BE > B 7 B R R BE AL B OB R 2 K
W 45 6 s 1875 #E £969,547,0000 G - 17 15
Ji& A G B 550,059 00 o R R — —4F
T A=t BERGESEEFELY
5,847,113,0005 JC. °

B PR A (T ]) A H 5E 5
M > FERHEOYERE : D H
B GIDIE B GIREER: DI E P H
R EAMBER s kDT B2 I -

BEE-—H=ZA=Z+—HILFEE &
HERRIEAL B W 0 2 BES S IR
Hi£9391,908,000%5 G » 1] 4 B A s 48 5
258t e R B ——HEZH=T—H &
NG 7 B B B 1T 47957,970,000 45 TG

G A BB R AR A R A (TR R
ARG AT B E ORISR
B 35 B s 5 GO B A BIRES s M Gid b
T 2 T A IR S o

BE_ZX——F+H=F+—HIE M@
FW > 4 R R RRE AL H O 2 R AT
FA% 5 A s R I R £9451,465,0009 G > T
B EEA B A 370 Al o =T ——4F
ToHA=ZT—H R EGGAEETHE
#113,752,654,000% 7G
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

16.FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS
HELD FOR TRADING (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(6)

&)

®

China New Energy Power Group Limited (“China New
Energy”) was incorporated in Bermuda and principally
engaged in (i) investment in securities; (ii) manufacture
of and trading in wood products; and (iii) development of
properties. China New Energy was also engaged in the food
processing and distribution business but which was disposed

in the current year.

For the year ended 31st December 2011, the audited
consolidated net profit from ordinary activities attributable
to shareholders of China New Energy was approximately
HK$60,886,000 and the basic earnings per share was HK1.33
cents. As at 31st December 2011, the audited consolidated

net asset value was approximately HK$6,669,000.

China Public Healthcare (Holding) Limited (“China Public
Healthcare”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and principally engaged in (i) sales and maintenance of
healthcare system; (ii) exploration and development of
mineral resources; and (iii) development and sales of radio

trunking systems related software.

For the year ended 31st December 2011, the audited
consolidated net loss from ordinary activities attributable to
shareholders of China Public Healthcare was approximately
HK$256,611,000 and the basic loss per share was HK2.28
cents. As at 31st December 2011, the audited consolidated

net asset value was approximately HK$700,435,000.

Beijing Yu Sheng Tang Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(“Beijing Yu Sheng Tang”) was incorporated in Bermuda
and principally engaged in (i) supply and procurement; (ii)
production and trading of Chinese medicines and health
care products; (iii) provision of finance; and (iv) investment

holding and securities investment.

For the year ended 31st March 2011, the audited consolidated
net loss from ordinary activities attributable to shareholders
of Beijing Yu Sheng Tang was approximately HK$120,373,000
and the basic loss per share was HK4.05 cents. As at 31st
March 2011, the audited consolidated net asset value was
approximately HK$1,296,825,000.
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16. PR E B H H M B & &

(%)
Wit (A1)
(6)  FfBRHR A AL 9 4 AT R 7 (T o

@

®

VL) A HERE RE M RS > E B DB
P& 5 GBI JCB E R M s KRG
SEUE R o H [ BT B VR R A A i T & 4y
BT HE R AEE HE -

BE-Z—-—4#+_HA=+—HIL4%
BE o B RE VR B R AL B R SER 2 #
TN & A i B I B £060,886,000%5 G > 1M
B BEHEA R A L1330 Al o R —F — —4F
FToAE T —H R AEETEL
6,669,000% JT ©

R A SRR (D) A IRA A ([ A
FLEIE | ) A BH 2 B B SR A > E A
D R AEE R R > GORIE K& B34
JE R 5 T Giii) BB T S S AR AT R A
AR B A

BE_Z——H+_A=+—HILEE,
rh S S R I R RE AL B R T 2 R
¥ % A 5 18 18 35 £9256,611,000 JT > 1fii
B % AN 5 4H 2. 289 Il o A & — —4F
ToA=T—H 8FEREREEFED
700,435,000% JG ©

b o 1 AE o B2 2 A Ay PR W] (b st 1
Az ] ) N E FOE M AGE  EERFEOM
JE B £ B 5 i) HR B8 I (R 18 e o AR R
S5 GiD 3R RilE 5 K& Gv) 808 8 i w8 75
%o

BEZZF——HF=H=1+T—HILFE,
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16.FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS
HELD FOR TRADING (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(9) China Strategic Holdings Limited (“China Strategic”) was
incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in (i)
manufacturing and trading of battery products and related

accessories; and (ii) investments in securities.

For the year ended 31st December 2011, the audited
consolidated net loss from ordinary activities attributable
to shareholders of China Strategic was approximately
HK$70,131,000 and the basic loss per share was HK1.9 cents.
As at 31st December 2011, the audited consolidated net asset

value was approximately HK$716,112,000.

17.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, DEPOSIT AND
PREPAYMENT

16. AR E AT ERE I MBHE R

(#E

)

MtaE - (4F)

©

ORI AR F (THR SR B A& 5k it
BT EERE O N EE B E M &
AR s KRGS A -

B2 ZFT—F+_A=+—HILFE:
hR R ROREAG H R S 2 R A A R
A A70,131,000%5 70 » A B A i 18 2
1O e A = F——4FE+H=+—H>
AR A A5 B £9716,112,000

IG ©

17. WOk ~ $% & K A sk E

2011 2010

I 2 R R

HK$ HK$

N W IT

Prepaid annual listing fee A E b = 198,000
Prepaid service fee TE A IR 5 % 3,228,251 45,932
Rental deposits 4 % 4 202,550 144,000
Other receivables — brokers L thy JRE SRR TE — £R A2 3,770,531 3,490
Dividend receivables JREE i it 5 734 780
7,202,066 392,202
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18.CASH AND BANK BALANCES 18. 3 & K 847 45 ik
2011 2010
—E——4 TR R
HK$ HK$
Deposits with banks RAT A K 6,645,125 13,099,680
Cash in hand FHB & 6,838 4,818

6,651,963 13,104,498

Included in cash and cash equivalents in the SR MBS IR DLER N 2 B4 J B4 45 18
consolidated statement of financial position are the Yy 6345 T 51 DA EC #S AR B 2 Ae & W DL Ab
following amounts denominated in a currency other Btz &%

than the functional currency of the entity to which

they relate:

2011 2010
i

RMB NG 3,998 3,998

19.CREDITORS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 19. FE A 5k JH & v $2 & H

2011 2010

e L =

HK$ HK$

Accrued expenses TR %A 395,100 258,550
Other payable — broker Al R A 3OE — RE 4 - 1,801,610
395,100 2,060,160
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20.BORROWINGS 20. 15 &
2011 2010
—®-—F  CFEF
HKS$ HK$
Loans from a finance company, A& 5 — [ g A R B
unsecured I FIC A 50,421,918 -
The loans are interest bearing at 5% per annum, B LB 5% F R n1‘ B B
unsecured and repayable within one year. The loans 3 Z8 i — 4R N B o B KT 5 AR T E)
are shown under current liabilities. =1 %f 2
21.SHARE CAPITAL 21 B AR
Number of Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares of shares of shares of
Notes HK$0.1 each HK$0.02 each HK$1 each HK$
G0 1L M ff0.02i8 ¢ I T £ 18
Mt ZEERYH ZEERYH ZEERYH ST
Authorised: B
At 31st December 2010 and ~ R-F—FHF+ A=+ —HL
31st December 2011 —F——8+-HA=Z+—H 10,000,000,000 - - 1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: CHRITRAR:
At 1st January 2010 RZZF—FFE—-H—H 1,174,208,743 - - 117,420,874
Capital reduction &SR (1,174,208,743) 1,174,208,743 e (93,936,700)
Share consolidation 5in 1)  BHEH (LE—) 234,841,748 (1,174,208,743) - —
Issue of shares for share AT {5 AR RE B A L 1y
options exercised 41,330,145 - - 4,133,015
Rights issue it 1,104,687,572 5 £ 110,468,757
Issue of shares by placing ~ EM# A& BT R LR BL 2
for cash 50,234,378 - - 5,023,438
At 31st December 2010 and ~ RZF—FFE+_A=+—HK
1st January 2011 —F——&—H—H 1,431,093,843 4 L 143,109,384
Share consolidation (10 in 1) BMHA& B (+4—) (a) (1,431,093,843) = 143,109,384 =
Capital reduction i A ik @ 143,109,384 - (143,109,384) (128,798,446)
Rights issue it iz h) 71,554,692 = = 7,155,470
At 31st December 2011  R-F——H+-H=+—H 214,664,076 = = 21,466,408
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

21.SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
During the year, movements in the Company’s share

capital are as follows:

(a) On 21st January 2011 (Hong Kong time), the
capital reorganisation has become effective
after close of business. Capital reorganisation
involved the consolidation of every ten issued
shares of HK$0.1 each into one consolidated
share of HK$1 each and the capital reduction
under which the nominal value of every issued
consolidated share was reduced from HK$1 to
HK$0.1.

(b) With reference to the prospectus documents of
the Company dated 15th July 2011, rights shares
of 71,554,692 on the basis of one rights share for
every two shares held by members on the record
date at a price of HK$0.75 each were issued and

allotted to successful applicants.

22.SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”),
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7th
February 2005 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and will expire on 7th February 2015 (the “Option
Period”). Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible
participants, including directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries and any other persons including
consultants, advisors, agents, customers, suppliers,

etc. to subscribe for shares in the Company.

O8  RADFORD CAPITAL INVESTMENT LIMITED  H#efi 8 A1 % 45 R 24 7

21. A (4E)
AR > RN A Z AR B0 -

(a)

(b)

W_EF——F—HZ+—H(F
A ERE]) > AR E A0 R 45 2 IRy R
HORBAER - RAEHY KA IS
+ B BB T (B 0. 1HE T 2 B B AT A
B — I R E1H T 2 A BE
By > DA B BR UG A I LB AT A B 4
ZTHE B 1# T HIR 0.1 T2
A W) 3 -

LR AN F B A T ——
FLA+THHEZ R ER S
71,554,692 [ Ak % i 93 T 4% e SR
RO Bk H IR A W A A s —
JREARE % % 177 2 5 E DA 4 I 30,75
W T 2 A B AT KRB T AR
w2 NTEo

22 i 1 hE 5 1
ANFRBRAFERFE A LHE
PR R AN B R RE ST B ([T
) OoFEHNAMER KRS ERIE
B RIS o BN —F —AAE
A-LHEMW ([ERRER]) - B
FHE AN FEREGA NS ERKSH
N (CEFEA A 7 K H &~ v 2 % 5)
KATAn] HoAth N A= (CELHE I ~ sl 2
RIL-FF - SERERG ) 552 I A DA
0 s AR N F B Ay o
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 # %2 —F——4F + = H=+—H L4

22.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 22 WG REGT B ()

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s members. The number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s members. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be

approved in advance by the Company’s members.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 on
acceptance of the grant. Options may be exercised
at any time during the Option Period. The exercise
price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

During the year ended 31st December 2011, no
options granted, exercised or cancelled. During the
year ended 31st December 2010, 41,330,145 share
options were granted and fully exercised and total
consideration received for taking up the options
granted is HK$17.

TE R B8 A 0 A e B S o 2 16 UL
T o ARPERE B 2 R K 2
AR 2 AR ERAANFARD
BT 2 10% o FEREARN AR E
JetHE 2 AF VLT - A AEAT — 4F [m] AT fa]
R A N 452 1 2 W B RE O e 2 B 4y B
ENES i PN/NEIPN AR R (P
1% o i 1) R R sk B 7 E AT E
5 0 2 Bl e R M AR N R AR 2.0.1%
= {8 (B 8 #5,000,000% 70 > HIJ 78 & 5
B8 AR 8 ) R AL UE

B ER TR 2 TR
fr1ds o 2 RAERE > i T 2 B
W HREF =+ 0 ks Bk
HE R W TS HEE A0 BR (A0 A o] IR [ AT o
THETIRAANFEREE AR
DINOFERTHY (BEBEEH) B
28 BT H O 3R BT AR A R R 2 0k
Wl GOEERZTHBHMLS A
i 28 P B H R AE R BT Rk 0y 2 - 0k
M8 s RGiDA AR R Z HE (ML=
B2 mE ) o

REBE_F——H+_H=+—H1
R > MESER Y~ A7 (0 R B I AR
REBE_F—FHF+_H=1+—H1
SEJE 5 41,330,145 13 i FBOHE 4% i 3 2%
5 BT - o A B A L B BT ik
W) A AR S 170 0T o

Annual Report 2011 %8 QO



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 265 it % Bt
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23.RESERVES 23 fifl i
Share Capital
Share option  redemption Accumulated

premium reserves reserves losses Total
Befril  WECBEGHE ARG RilE# At
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At Ist January 2010 REZE-FF—-A—H 499,760,930 = 168,800 (405,071,657) 94,858,073
Total comprehensive loss 2HERAH - - - (48047,723) (48,047,723
Capital reduction &Nl - - - 93,936,700 93,936,700
Share option benefits il A = 1,275,478 = - 1,275,478
Exercise of share options TR I 7,070,402 (1,275,478) - - 5,794,924
Shares issue expenses BTG X (4,418 333) = = = (4,418,333)

At 31st December 2010 and REZZ-ZHE+ZA=1T—HR
Ist January 2011 “F-—4%-A—-H 502,412,999 - 168800 (359,182,680) 143,399,119
Total comprehensive loss AHEREH - - - (213916,171)  (213,916,171)
Capital reduction &Nk - - - 128,798,446 128,798,446
Rights issue it it 46,510,549 - - - 46,510,549
Shares issue expenses BTG X (3,053,750) = - - (3,053,750)
At 31st December 2011 RZB——#+ZA=+—H 545,869,798 = 168,800 (444,300,405) 101,738,193
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24.COMMITMENTS 24. 7R %
2011 2010
—F -4 e S S8
HK$ HK$
Lease payments paid under S A JBE TR 3R A R ) 3 T AR B AR
operating leases in respect of EHE Xtz HERE
rented properties during the
year 1,260,375 864,000

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
the lease commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in

respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

A A5 AR A 4R AR 95O RT B AR
BT A AR W T H B AT R B R B
A <5 3 2 FH B R 3 22 JiE i 4F 191
T

2011 2010

—g——% —F-%F

HK$ HK$

7 T

Within one year — R 1,565,300 720,000
In the second to fifth years B R AF

inclusive (G458 B W 4) 708,925 -

2,274,225 720,000

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for office property. Operating leases
are negotiated and payments are fixed for an average

of 2 years.

REE R ML B 15 A4S 4R B I W) 36
FEAY 2 fH & - B A A 45 07 P T
P SCAV 22 R IE A (8] A2 TSP 240 4F 19 0
4o
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For the year ended 31st December 2011 B2 —F——4F + A =+—HIL4FE

25.

26.

27.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
investments in financial assets designated as
held for trading with carrying value amounting
to HK$158,473,781 (2010: HK$271,904,424) were
pledged to brokers to secure margin financing
provided to the Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The total costs charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in the sum of HK$94,378
(2010: HK$81,600) represents contributions payable
to the MPF scheme in Hong Kong.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The Group had the following related party
transactions during the year which were
carried out in the normal course of the Group’s

business:

25.

26.

27,

& e KA

R E OB OR > A E E IR | E 5
158,473,781% 5t (= F — F 4F ¢
271,904,424% J0) Z IR E A FEE
BEZWMBEEEREC AL BT
J Tl 1) 58 AC A M A o

BK R A A S

A &5 A A TH R A 3R 0 BR 2 B A KRR
£594,378% 70 ( ZF — F4F 1 81,6004
J6) o BPZEA 7 v ) o A 4 R ) S At

[3H 3 5 &2 5

() AEERAFEENEALERH W
KB HIET NIRRT R )

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2011 2010
58 Wi Oy 44 A 2ot H ZEF -4 —EF—FF
HK$ HK$
CU Investment Management Investment management 840,000 480,000
Limited (Note 1) fee
EBBEEMARAA (M) BEEIE
Chung Nam Securities Limited Interest expenses 311,158 209,615
(Note 2) FE BH X
R RIE R A R A (M AE2)
Brokerage fee 1,927,810 1,578,745
&N
Global Day Limited Rental expenses - 216,000
Z HARAF fH 4 BA 52
Wise Sky Limited Rental expenses - 216,000
Wise Sky Limited A 48 B 3
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27.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Notes:

(D

(@)

CUIM is the investment manager of the Group since
3rd November 2003. The investment management fee is
HK$40,000 per month for the period from 1st January
2009 to 30th June 2011 and is increased to HK$100,000
per month effective on 1st July 2011.

The Group had obtained margin financing facilities with
Chung Nam Securities Limited (“CNSL”), a connected
person under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange since 2nd July 2009,
through the opening of margin trading accounts with
CNSL to deal in securities in accordance with the
investment objective and policies of the Group. For
the year ended 31st December 2011, the Group paid to
CNSL brokerage fees amounted to HK$1,927,810 (2010:
HK$1,578,745) and margin interests, net of interest
income, amounted to HK$311,158 (2010: HK$209,615)
respectively in respect of the margin trading accounts
from 1st January 2011 to 31st December 2011 which

constituted related party transactions.

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the amount

)]

HHRES _EEZ=F+—H=H
Ay A A [ 2 A% AR o 5 AT H A
HoZEAFE—H—-BE_F——
AENH Z 4 H ORI 2 B H 40,0008
gLl —F—-—FLH R E
A H100,000%5 JC

HoZENEEA AR AEHY
HRg AE S A BR A A (T R RE S - BB
2 FTEE IR LT BRI M BRAE A ) 4
151 Jo Rl 23K 4 a7 vh e GiE 2 B
SR E IR IR EE 2 G H
HREREEES - HME T ——F
T A=t B AEEE
R -— A —-HE_F——F
+oAZt+—-HZHEEBEEF N
vh R A 25 0 Bl S A & AL #1,927,810
WIo (ZF —F4:1,578,745% 7T)
R AF I AE (FnBRFLE YA ) 311,158
HBIC (ZF —F4:209,6158 7T) »
T 5% 55 28 by M B L 22 5 o

(b) FA ¥ R > BB (REAT) Bl 1 2

due from (to) a related company is as follows: A FRIE T
Maximum
balance
during
the year 2011 2010
%
BRR&R —“F——8F —“ZFT-FF
Particular HK$ HK$ HK$
Gl # # T T
CNSL Margin account 3,762,681 3,762,681 (1,801,610)
R Ak 2 fHRRF
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27.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(¢) Remuneration for key management personnel,

including amounts paid to the Company’s

directors as disclosed in note 11 and certain of

the highest paid employees as disclosed in note

12, is as follows:

27. BT R Y (4)

(o TEEMABZME (B
TFTAARESR (MM EE11 T 5088)
L Them Bl B (I k1287
B) 2 WOR) I

2011 2010

—E 4 xR AR

HK$ HK$

Directors’ fee MR 613,457 360,000
Salaries, allowance and benefits  #r 4 > B M & B Y 48 A

in kind 4,045,769 1,464,000

Contributions to MPF Scheme o 4 it 3K 50,375 30,000

4,709,601 1,854,000

28.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

28. 7 [t J& 2 W Z HE 4

Details of the subsidiaries are set out as follows: o RN 8 1 I
2011 2010
—e——% C—2—%&
HK$ HK$
Unlisted shares, at cost & BT A HR A 10,000,023 10,000,023

Amount due from subsidiaries

Less: impairment loss

B Wi Y B 2 ) 3k

BB BUE

862,249,589 818,556,033
(758,949,274) | (706,948,974)

113,300,338 121,607,082
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28.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 28. KB AWl 2 W (4F)
(continued)

Paid up issued/

registered Percentage of
Name of Place of ordinary equity attributable Principal activities
subsidiary incorporation share capital to the Company and place of operation
frews/ A 5w A
Wt 5 2 ] 4 B sk i} B 1 2 sk 35 28 % Je A T A 7 b FEEHRBRINE

USs$ Direct Indirect
%t H fHl %

% %
Winning Horsee Limited British Virgin Islands 1 100 - Trading of financial assets
SRR LR designated as held for
trading in Hong Kong
R B R AR E R
HBIMBERE
Fortuneway Limited British Virgin Islands 1 100 - Investment holdings
by Vgl BELER
Sunluck Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands 1 100 - Investment holdings
S I B BAEPER
Next Method Limited British Virgin Islands 1 100 - Investment holdings
by Ty BELER
Winning Point Limited British Virgin Islands 1 - 100 Inactive
S I LB LE 3 $5
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29. INFORMATION ABOUT THE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position

of the Company includes:

2077 B A 2 ) BB R 8 2 2 %

A B A m BB AR DL R 2 B LA

2011 2010
I S o —FFLE
HK$ HK$
T T
Non-current assets I ) &
Property, plant and equipment L ERY NS E
(Note 15) (Btit1s) 193,809 1,667,539
Interests in subsidiaries N P E
(Note 28) (Htit28) 113,300,338 121,607,082
113,494,147 123,274,621
Current assets EE
Deposit and prepayment i 5 K TR A KA 3,430,801 387,932
Cash and bank balances i 4 B8R AT 45 B 6,650,813 13,100,948
10,081,614 13,488,880
Current liability E A
Creditors and accrued expenses  JEfF 3K IH & 18 12 # A 395,100 258,550
Net current assets i B & E 9,686,514 13,230,330
Net assets & E T E 123,180,661 136,504,951
Capital and reserves A A A
Share capital (Note 21) A (ffiE21) 21,466,408 143,109,384
Reserves it 101,714,253 (6,604,433)
Total equity HE #5 4A R 123,180,661 136,504,951
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30.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 30. f MR FE

PERIOD

With reference to the announcement dated 7th
November 2011 and the circular dated 20th January
2012, the directors proposed a rights issue of
858,656,304 rights shares at the subscription price
of HK$0.15 per rights share on the basis of four
rights shares for every issued share held on the
record date with bonus warrant issue of 214,664,076
bonus warrants at the exercise price of HK$0.05 per
bonus warrant on the basis of one bonus warrant
for every four rights shares taken up. The rights
issue and the bonus warrant issue were approved
by the independent members by way of poll at the
extraordinary general meeting dated 13th February
2012. The bonus warrant issue is conditional upon
the capital reorganisation mentioned in the following
paragraph becoming effective upon the approval

from the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands.

With reference to the circular dated 20th January
2012, the directors proposed to effect the capital
reorganisation which will involve (i) the reduction
of the nominal value of every issued share from
HK$0.10 each to HK$0.01 each by cancelling
HK$0.09 of the paid up capital on each issued
share; and (i) immediately following the aforesaid
capital reduction, every share of HK$0.10 each in
the authorised but unissued share capital of the
Company be subdivided into ten adjusted shares of
HK$0.01 each. The authorised share capital of the
Company will be HK$1,000,000,000 divided into
100,000,000,000 Shares and the issued share capital
of the Company will be HK$2,146,640.76 divided
into approximately 214,664,076 Shares (excluding the
effect of the aforesaid rights issue).

EMRER A - ——F+—H
CHZAMEAEME - —_4F—H
T HZ WK SR TR
JBE B 30157 JC 2 58 B 1 > DA HE B
K (RER R A MERE —RE
BEAT R 3 ] A8 BE U L 43R S A 4y ) AT
858,656,304 8 HE B8 1 1y DA B Fie B Ay AL
FI| 58 1 HE 750.05%s o0 2 AT (8 - DL
AT 51 R 58 R RE w8 2 (559 7 19 K I
O i Ak S 1 17 ] % — oy A1 R E
75 ) BE1T214,664,07610 AL 5R B RERE o
WoE - AT ZHETZ R
R A K B b A i R AT R R8I R
A7 48 18 51 B AR DA 8 22 3R P O AL o o
AL BB RE R B AT ZH A N B Ak 2 i
7 H A B 2 B S R e ME AR AR AL
% WA EE -

MR A s - E——F—A -+
HZ ek & FERETRAETH
HAG W K ()5 8 5 8 5 i 2 88 47 1y
Z B EAR0.098 T - A B I B AT I
¥y 2 T 4 B0, 1038 T I B E 5 i
0.01% JT 5 M (i) B BB #E AT b 2t I A Hil
WAs > AN A E MR BT IR A
JE T (B0. 1095 I 2 B 403 4 4 4 2 1+
B T {HO.01%5 T 2 88 5 8 B 1y o A<
Iy F) 295 B AR % £51,000,000,000%
JC 5 43 £5100,000,000,000 8% 4y > X AR
IS E) 2 AT A £ 2,146,640.761s
I > 43 #1214,664,076 BB (A ALEE
kR ) o
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Five Years Financial Summary

AR 0 B R

Years ended 31st December

BEF A= HLEE

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
e S ZE-FE ZEENE ZEENE “EELE
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
L Y T oy L
Results EY
Revenue g 130,931 392,662 2,662,780 3,612,003 1,703,629
(Loss) Profit before BB AT (1) & F
faxation (213,916,171) (48,047,723) 58,768,321 (388,624,547) (29,720,157)
Taxation oL - - - - -
(Loss) Profit for the I M 4
year attributable to (FE 1) B A
members (213,916,171) (48,047,723) 58,768,321 (388,624,547) (29,720,157)
Assets and liabilities & &R £ &
Total assets BEE 174,021,619 288,508,063 214,982,174 128,134,708 487,023,703
Total liabilities aefk (50,817,018) (2,060,160) (2,703,227) (56,037,645) (69,518,964)
Net assets EEFHE 123,204,601 286,508,503 212,278,947 71,497,003 417,504,739
Share capital A 21,466,408 143,109,384 117,420,874 51,650,729 36,344,729
Reserves fie 101,738,193 143,399,119 94,858,073 19,846,334 381,160,010
Total equity &4 123,204,601 286,508,503 212,278,947 71,497,063 417,504,739
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